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financial trends

(A) Non-GAAP measure. Calculated exclusive of certain adjustments.
 See reconciliation to GAAP measures on page 22.
(B) Assumes reinvestment of all dividends.

Sales
(billions of dollars)

5.2 5.6 5.9 5.4 6.3

 99 00 01 02 03

Earnings
per Share(A)

(dollars—diluted 
basis)

2.09     2.46     2.36      2.31    2.22

 99 00 01 02 03

Operating
Return on Net 
Assets(A)

(percentage)

10.4 11.1 11.1 10.5 9.1

99 00 01 02 03

Cash from
Operations
(millions of dollars)

1,089 1,174 1,084 1,064 1,036

99 00 01 02 03

Operating 
Income(A)

(millions of dollars)

769  880 858 798 757

 99 00 01 02 03

Shareholder
Return(B)

(percentage)

0.3 25.9 9.3 10.8 9.6

99 00 01 02 03

Return
on Equity(A)

(percentage)

16.1 18.6 17.6 15.5 13.6

99 00 01 02 03

Capital
Expenditures
(billions of dollars)

1.1 1.0 0.8 0.8 1.2

99 00 01 02 03

27.8 13.2    (26.6)     (20.5) 24.4
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Non-GAAP Measures (Unaudited)
(millions of dollars, except per share)

The financial trend graphs on page 21 contain non-GAAP measures, which are calculated exclusive of certain adjustments. The presentation 
of these non-GAAP measures is intended to enhance the usefulness of financial information by providing measures which are indicators of the 
company’s baseline performance. The company’s management uses these non-GAAP measures internally to evaluate its business and as a basis 
for forecasting future periods.

The tables below present a reconciliation of GAAP measures to non-GAAP measures.

Operating Income and ORONA
ORONA is calculated as operating income divided by the rolling five-quarter average of total assets less investments in equity affiliates.

Year Ended     1999  2000  2001  2002  2003

Operating Income GAAP Basis     $ 724.7  $   830.8  $   745.4  $    774.9  $   604.5
Adjustments:

 Global cost reduction plan expenses, net     34.2  55.4  107.0  23.1  152.5
 Litigation settlement         6.0

 Gain on sale of packaged gas facilities       (6.3 )

 Chemicals facility closure expenses     10.3

Operating Income Excluding Adjustments     $    769.2  $   879.9  $   858.4  $   798.0  $    757.0

ORONA GAAP Basis     

Operating income     $ 724.7  $   830.8  $   745.4  $    774.9  $   604.5
Five-quarter average net assets     7,401.7  7,933.6  7,739.3  7,625.1  8,356.9

ORONA GAAP basis     9.8 % 10.5 % 9.6 % 10.2 % 7.2 %

ORONA Excluding Adjustments
Operating income excluding adjustments     $    769.2  $   879.9  $   858.4  $   798.0  $    757.0
Five-quarter average net assets     7,401.7  7,933.6  7,739.3  7,625.1  8,356.9

ORONA excluding adjustments     10.4 % 11.1 % 11.1 % 10.5 % 9.1 %
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Diluted EPS
Year Ended     1999  2000  2001  2002  2003

Diluted EPS GAAP Basis     $2.09  $    .57  $  2.12  $2.36  $ 1.78
Adjustments:

 Global cost reduction plan expenses, net     .10  .16  .30  .07  .43
 Cumulative effect of accounting change             .01
 Gain on sale of U.S. packaged gas business           (.12 )

 Litigation settlement         .02

 Gain on divestiture of interest in cogeneration facilities       (.29 )

 Loss on early retirement of debt         .21

 Gain on sale of packaged gas facilities       (.02 )

 Gain on sale of polyvinyl alcohol business       (.37 )

 Gain/loss on currency hedges related to BOC transaction and expenses (.02 ) 2.12

 Chemicals facility closure expenses     .03

 Gain on formation of polymer venture     (.11 )

Diluted EPS Excluding Adjustments     $2.09  $2.46  $2.36  $ 2.31  $2.22

Net Income and Return on Equity
Return on equity is calculated as net income divided by the rolling five-quarter average of shareholders’ equity.

Year Ended     1999  2000  2001  2002  2003

Net Income GAAP Basis     $   450.5  $    124.2  $   465.6  $   525.4  $    397.3
Adjustments:

 Global cost reduction plan expenses, net     21.9  35.0  65.9  14.1  96.5
 Cumulative effect of accounting change             2.9
 Gain on sale of U.S. packaged gas business           (25.7 )

 Litigation settlement         3.7

 Gain on divestiture of interest in cogeneration facilities       (64.6 )

 Loss on early retirement of debt         47.3

 Gain on sale of packaged gas facilities       (4.0 )

 Gain on sale of polyvinyl alcohol business       (79.1 )

 Gain/loss on currency hedges related to BOC transaction and expenses (4.4 ) 456.5

 Chemicals facility closure expenses     6.4

 Gain on formation of polymer venture     (23.6 )

Net Income Excluding Adjustments     $   450.8  $   532.6  $     517.9  $   513.8  $   496.7

Average shareholders’ equity     $2,801.9  $2,855.8  $2,949.0  $3,311.5  $3,660.2

Return on Average Shareholders’ Equity GAAP Basis   16.1 % 4.3 % 15.8 % 15.9 % 10.9 %

Return on Average Shareholders’ Equity Excluding Adjustments 16.1 % 18.6 % 17.6 % 15.5 % 13.6 %
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Results of Operations
(millions of dollars, except per share)

All comparisons in the discussion are to the corresponding prior year 
unless otherwise stated. All amounts presented are in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America.

Air Products and Chemicals, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the 
company) serves customers in technology, energy, healthcare and 
industrial markets. The company offers a broad portfolio of products, 
services and solutions, providing atmospheric gases, process and 
specialty gases, performance materials and chemical intermediates. 
Geographically diverse, with operations in over 30 countries, the com-
pany has sales of $6.3 billion, assets of $9.4 billion and a worldwide 
workforce of 18,500 employees.

2003 Overview 

The company faced significant challenges this year, including: 
a slow manufacturing environment, cyclical lows in the Chemicals 
and Equipment businesses, high and volatile energy and raw material 
costs, and an electronics industry downturn that continued through the 
first half of the year. However, in spite of the difficult environment, the 
company continued to control its costs and make progress in portfolio 
management actions. As part of its ongoing portfolio management 
activities, the company continued to execute its growth strategies by 
entering the U.S. homecare market by acquiring American Homecare 
Supply, LLC (AHS) and other small homecare companies and by 
acquiring the Electronic Chemicals business of Ashland Specialty 
Chemical Company. A global cost reduction plan was announced in 
the third quarter of the fiscal year, and the company is on track to 
achieve associated cost savings. The company completed the sale 
of its Canadian packaged gas business and is currently pursuing the 
sale of its European methylamines and derivatives business. These 
programs implemented to improve the company’s businesses were 
overshadowed by the weak manufacturing environment and high raw 
material and energy costs. Going forward, the company will continue to 
focus on growth markets, leading market positions, operating leverage 
and continued capital discipline. An analysis of 2003 financial results 
and the company’s outlook for 2004 will be discussed throughout the 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis, which follows.

Consolidated Results

      2003  2002  2001

Sales      $6,297.3  $5,401.2  $5,857.8 

Cost of sales      4,613.1  3,815.7  4,216.4

Selling and administrative   832.6  704.3  698.7

Research and development   121.1  120.3  121.8

Other (income) expense, net   (26.5 ) (37.1 ) (31.5 )

Global cost reduction plans, net   152.5  23.1  107.0

Operating Income      604.5  774.9  745.4

Income from equity affiliates, 
net of related expenses      84.4  76.2  81.2

Gain on sale of U.S. packaged 
gas business      —  55.7  —

Gain on divestiture of interest in
cogeneration facilities      —  —  101.6

Loss on early retirement of debt   —  —  (75.8 )

Interest expense      123.5  122.3  191.2

Effective tax rate      26.9 % 31.4 % 29.0 %

Net Income      397.3  525.4  465.6

Basic Earnings per Share   $1.81  $2.42  $2.17

Diluted Earnings per Share   $1.78  $2.36  $2.12 

Discussion of Consolidated Results
2003 vs. 2002

Sales increased 17%, or $896.1. Acquisitions, including the U.S. 
homecare companies and Ashland’s Electronic Chemicals business in 
2003 and San Fu Gas Company, Ltd. (San Fu) in July 2002, accounted 
for 6% of the increase. Underlying base business growth accounted 
for 5% of the increase, principally from improved volumes in the 
Chemicals and Gases businesses. The impact of higher natural gas 
cost contractually passed through to customers and favorable currency 
effects, partially offset by divestitures, accounted for the remaining 
sales increase of 6%. 

Operating income in 2003 included a net expense of $152.5 for global 
cost reduction plans as compared to the prior year, which included a 
net expense of $23.1 for global cost reduction plans. Refer to the dis-
cussion of global cost reduction plans on page 27 for details.

Operating income of $604.5 declined $170.4. Operating income in 
2003 was unfavorably impacted by higher global cost reduction plan 
expenses, higher raw material and energy costs, higher pension and 
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.SAP implementation expenses, higher operating costs and lower elec-
tronics specialty material pricing. Favorable operating income variances 
resulted from higher gases volumes, the contribution from acquisitions, 
and favorable currency effects. 

Income from equity affiliates increased 11%, or $8.2 from the prior 
year. Favorable adjustments of $23 were recorded related to divesti-
tures recorded in prior years, partially offset by the impact of consoli-
dating San Fu in the fourth quarter of 2002 and a one-time tax benefit 
related to an asset revaluation at an Italian affiliate recorded in the 
prior year. 

Net income was $397.3, or $1.78 diluted earnings per share, as com-
pared to net income of $525.4, or $2.36 diluted earnings per share. 
Income before the cumulative effect of an accounting change for the 
company’s adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 
(SFAS) No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations,” was 
$400.2, or $1.79 diluted earnings per share in 2003. Current year 
results included a net expense for global cost reduction plans ($96.5 
after-tax, or $.43 per share). Prior year results included a gain on the 
sale of the U.S. packaged gas business ($25.7 after-tax, or $.12 per 
share) and a net expense for global cost reduction plans ($14.1 after-
tax, or $.07 per share). Interest expense increased slightly from the 
prior year while the effective tax rate of 26.9% was lower than the prior 
year of 31.4%.

2002 vs. 2001 

Sales in 2002 decreased $456.6, or 8%. Acquisitions, including San 
Fu in July 2002, accounted for a 2% increase in sales. Underlying base 
business sales declined 3%, reflecting difficult economic conditions 
for the manufacturing sector. Gases sales declined, due principally to 
lower shipments to the electronics industry. Chemicals sales declined, 
due principally to lower selling prices. Somewhat offsetting these 
impacts, Equipment sales grew, reflecting increased activity in liquefied 
natural gas (LNG) heat exchangers and helium containers. The impact 
of lower natural gas cost contractually passed through to customers 
and divestitures, slightly offset by favorable currency, accounted for the 
remaining sales decrease of 7%.

Operating income in 2002 increased $29.5. Operating income in 2002 
included a net expense of $23.1 for global cost reduction plans as 
compared to the prior year, which included a net expense of $107.0 for 
global cost reduction plans. Operating income in 2002 benefited from 
reduced costs from productivity efforts, constrained spending, higher 
Performance Materials volumes and increased Equipment activity. 

Currency and exchange-related effects had a slightly favorable impact 
on operating income. Depressed conditions in the global electronics 
market and in the North American steel industry combined with 
higher maintenance spending in Energy and Process Industries 
(EPI—formerly Chemical Process Industries) negatively impacted oper-
ating income.

In 2002, equity affiliates’ income declined $5.0, or 6%. The divestiture 
of investments in two cogeneration facilities in the fourth quarter of 
2001 and lower electronics results more than offset the improved 
profitability of the global polymers joint venture and the one-time tax 
benefit related to an asset revaluation at an Italian affiliate.

Net income was $525.4, or $2.36 diluted earnings per share, as com-
pared to net income of $465.6, or $2.12 diluted earnings per share. 
2002 results included a gain on the sale of the U.S. packaged gas 
business ($25.7 after-tax, or $.12 per share) and a net expense for 
global cost reduction plans ($14.1 after-tax, or $.07 per share). 2001 
results included a net expense for global cost reduction plans ($65.9 
after-tax, or $.30 per share). The 2002 results benefited from a sig-
nificant reduction in interest expense due principally to lower average 
debt outstanding. The 2002 effective tax rate was 31.4% compared to 
29.0% in 2001. 

2004 Outlook 

As we enter 2004, recent economic data and sales trends appear to 
indicate an early stage of economic recovery in most of the company’s 
end markets. However, at this time, it is still too early to predict the 
pace at which these markets will grow in the near term. Other fac-
tors, such as potential volatility in energy and currency markets, also 
limit visibility and forecasting accuracy. Given this uncertainty, and in 
line with current economic outlooks, we are placing a broad range on 
fiscal year 2004 domestic manufacturing growth of between 2% and 
6%, with broader ranges in individual sectors, in particular the global 
electronics market. The company anticipates sequential improve-
ment in silicon processed by the semiconductor industry at about the 
double-digit level, and flat-panel display growth is expected to exceed 
silicon growth. The company anticipates benefits in 2004 from its port-
folio management actions taken to build its market positions in its key 
growth platforms. The Ashland Electronic Chemicals and U.S. home-
care acquisitions are expected to be accretive to earnings in 2004. The 
company’s outlook for 2004 anticipates relative stability in currencies 
and in raw material costs and includes the shutdown of a methanol 
production facility and the startup of a long-term purchased methanol 
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supply arrangement in the second half of the fiscal year, which should 
materially reduce chemical raw material cost volatility. The company 
also expects cost savings in certain areas from the actions associ-
ated with the 2003 global cost reduction plan and expects a level of 
expense in 2004 on SAP system implementation and operation similar 
to the level in 2003. Pension expenses are expected to be higher in 
2004 due to lower discount rate and lower long-term asset return 
assumptions. The company’s outlook for the Equipment segment is 
for improvement in 2004 based on an anticipation of receiving two to 
four new LNG heat exchanger orders during the year, which should 
increase segment profitability in the latter quarters. The company plans 
to continue to drive portfolio management and cost reduction actions 
throughout the year, and any potential up-front costs associated with 
such actions could negatively impact the company’s earnings in 2004 
while providing benefits in the following years. 

Selling and Administrative Expense (S&A)
2003 vs. 2002

S&A increased 18%, or $128.3. The impact of acquisitions and cur-
rency effects, partially offset by divestitures, accounted for two-thirds 
of this increase. In addition, S&A increased due to cost inflation, SAP 
implementation and pension expenses. These increases in S&A were 
partially offset by lower incentive compensation costs and improved 
productivity. 

2002 vs. 2001

S&A in 2002 increased slightly as the impact of acquisitions, currency 
effects and spending on SAP increased expense levels which were 
offset by productivity improvements and the divestiture of the U.S. 
packaged gas business.

2004 Outlook 

S&A will increase in 2004 primarily as a result of acquisitions, particu-
larly Ashland’s Electronic Chemicals business acquired on 29 August 
2003, the full year impact of U.S. homecare acquisitions made during 
2003 and planned U.S. homecare acquisitions for 2004. The homecare 
business has a significantly higher level of S&A, as a percent of sales, 
than the average mix of the company’s current businesses. In addition, 
the company expects increases in S&A due to inflation and higher pen-
sion expense. Partially offsetting these impacts, the company expects 
to realize cost savings from the global cost reduction plan initiated in 
the third quarter of 2003, savings in businesses where SAP was imple-
mented in 2003 and other productivity initiatives.

Other (Income) Expense, Net
2003 vs. 2002

Other income of $26.5 declined $10.6. Amortization expense 
increased by $6.5, resulting primarily from the intangible assets asso-
ciated with the U.S. homecare companies acquired in 2003. Results in 
2002 included higher favorable impacts from the sale of investments. 

2002 vs. 2001

Other income of $37.1 increased $5.6. Amortization expense declined 
$15.6 in 2002, principally as a result of no longer amortizing goodwill 
with the adoption of SFAS No. 142. Results in 2002 included higher 
favorable impacts from the sale of investments. Results in 2001 
included favorable insurance settlements. 

Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements displays the details of 
other (income) expense.

Global Cost Reduction Plans 
2003 Plan

In 2003, the company recorded an expense of $152.7 for a global cost 
reduction plan (2003 Plan). This expense included $56.8 for severance 
and pension-related benefits and $95.9 for asset disposals and facility 
closures in the Gases and Chemicals segments. The results for 2003 
also included the reversal of the balance of the 2002 Plan accrual 
of $.2.

During the third quarter of 2003, the company completed a capacity 
utilization analysis in several businesses in the Gases segment. 
To reduce capacity and costs, several facilities ceased operation as of 
30 June 2003. An expense of $37.6 was recognized for the closure 
of these facilities, net of expected recovery from disposal. A decision 
was made to terminate several incomplete capacity expansion projects. 
An expense of $13.0 was recognized for the cost of terminating these 
projects, net of expected recovery from disposal and redeployment. 
An expense of $3.6 was also recognized for the planned sale of two 
real estate properties and the termination of several leases for small 
facilities. These expenses were principally in the North American 
merchant and tonnage businesses, with a modest amount in the 
Electronics business.

The rationalization of excess capacity in certain products resulted in a 
decision to exit certain Chemical Intermediates operations. Late in the 
quarter ended 30 June 2003, the company decided to pursue the sale 
of its European methylamines and derivatives business. The company 
expects to complete the sale by 30 June 2004. Expected proceeds 
from the sale were determined and a loss was recognized for the dif-
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ference between the carrying value of the assets and the expected 
net proceeds from the sale. Additional expenses for the closure of the 
methanol and ammonia plants in Pensacola, Florida, which made prod-
ucts for internal consumption, were also recognized. The total expense 
for these actions was $41.7. 

In addition to the capacity reduction initiatives, the company continues 
to implement cost reduction and productivity-related efforts. The dives-
titures, the capacity reductions and the cost control initiatives will result 
in the elimination of 461 positions from the company. The company will 
complete the 2003 Plan by 30 June 2004. Approximately 30% of the 
position reductions relates to capacity rationalization and divestitures. 
An additional 40% relates to ongoing productivity efforts and balanc-
ing engineering resources with project activity and the remaining 30% 
relates to a reduction in the number of management positions.

Cost savings from the 2003 Plan realized in 2003 were approximately 
$3. Cost savings of $38 are expected in 2004. Beyond 2004, the com-
pany expects the 2003 Plan to provide annualized cost savings of $59, 
of which the majority is related to reduced personnel costs. As a result 
of actions taken in the 2003 and prior years’ global cost reduction 
plans, operating income in 2003 included $27 of incremental benefits 
over those realized in 2002.

2002 Plan

In 2002, the company recorded an expense of $30.8 for a global cost 
reduction plan (2002 Plan), including U.S. packaged gas divestiture-
related reductions. This expense included $27.1 for severance and 
pension-related benefits and $3.7 for asset impairments related to 
the planned sale or closure of two small chemical facilities. The 2002 
Plan included 333 position eliminations in the areas of manufacturing, 
engineering, distribution and overheads. The 2002 Plan was completed 
as expected in March 2003. The results for 2002 also included the 
reversal of the balance of the accrual for the 2001 Plan of $7.7.

Cost savings from the 2002 Plan realized in 2002 were approximately 
$3. Cost savings of $16 were realized in 2003. Beyond 2003, the 
company expects the 2002 Plan to provide annualized incremental 
cost savings of $17, of which the majority is related to reduced per-
sonnel costs. As a result of actions taken in the 2002 and prior years’ 
global cost reduction plans, operating income in 2002 included $29 of 
incremental benefits over those realized in 2001.

2001 Plan

In 2001, the company recorded an expense of $109.2 for a global cost 
reduction plan (2001 Plan). This expense included $79.6 for severance 
benefits and pension plan settlements and $29.6 for asset impair-
ments and related restructuring charges. The 2001 Plan included 670 
position eliminations in the areas of manufacturing, engineering, dis-
tribution and overheads. The company decided to divest several small 
facilities, which required a write-down of the net carrying value to the 
estimated net realizable value. The net carrying value of the assets to 
be disposed of was $11.1 and $27.7 in the Gases and Chemicals seg-
ments, respectively. The 2001 Plan was completed in 2002, with 644 
positions eliminated and total expenses of $101.5 incurred. The results 
for 2001 also included the reversal of the balance of the accrual for 
the 2000 Plan of $2.2.

Cost savings from the 2001 Plan realized in 2001 were approximately 
$2. Cost savings of $22 were realized in 2002. Beyond 2002, the 
2001 Plan reduced costs by $33 per year, of which the majority is 
related to reduced personnel costs.

Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements provides additional 
details on the global cost reduction plan expenses by segment. 

Interest Expense

     2003  2002  2001

Interest incurred     $127.7  $131.7  $197.2

Less: interest capitalized    4.2  9.4  6.0

Interest expense      $123.5  $122.3  $191.2

2003 vs. 2002

Interest expense increased $1.2. This increase resulted from the 
impact of a weaker U.S. dollar on the translation of foreign currency 
interest and lower capitalized interest, partially offset by lower average 
interest rates and a lower average debt balance excluding currency 
effects. 

2002 vs. 2001

Interest expense declined $68.9. About two-thirds of this variance was 
due to lower average debt outstanding and the remainder due princi-
pally to lower interest rates in 2002. 

2004 Outlook 

The company expects a modest decrease in interest expense, due pri-
marily to the expectation of a lower debt portfolio average interest rate 
in 2004. The 2004 estimate excludes the possible effects of any future 
acquisitions, any change in stock repurchase policy or any change in 
risk management policy. 
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Effective Tax Rate 

The effective tax rate equals the income tax provision divided by 
income before taxes less minority interest. 

2003 vs. 2002

The 2003 effective tax rate was 26.9% compared to 31.4%. The dif-
ference in the rates was due to higher tax credits and adjustments 
in 2003 and the nondeductible costs included in the sale of the U.S. 
packaged gas business in 2002. 

2002 vs. 2001

The 2002 effective tax rate was 31.4% compared to 29.0%. The 
higher rate was due to the nondeductible costs included in the sale of 
the U.S. packaged gas business in 2002. 

2004 Outlook

The company expects the effective tax rate to increase to 30%, prin-
cipally attributable to higher income. This estimate is based on current 
tax law, the current estimate of earnings and the expected distribution 
of income among various tax jurisdictions. 

Segment Analysis

A description of the products, services and markets for each of the 
business segments is included in Note 20 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

Gases

The Gases segment involves three principal modes of supply: 
on-site/pipeline, liquid bulk and packaged gas. About one-third of 
the overall Gases sales come from the on-site and pipeline supply 
mode, which generally has long-term cost pass-through type contracts, 
lending an attractive degree of stability to Gases results. Liquid bulk 
products make up about one-third of overall Gases sales and, while 
volume-sensitive, generally have three- to five-year contracts that pro-
vide price stability. The remainder of sales is made up of specialty and 
industrial cylinder gas supply for electronics, medical/homecare and 
other industries. 

Electricity is the largest cost input for the production of atmospheric 
gases. Natural gas is the principal raw material for hydrogen, the vast 
majority of which is delivered through on-site and pipeline supply 
arrangements. The company mitigates adverse energy impacts in the 
Gases segment through its cost pass-through structures as well as 
price increases. 

Gases     2003  2002  2001

Sales     $4,438.3  $3,673.9  $4,084.6

Operating income     584.8  614.0   654.9

Equity affiliates’ income      58.3  61.9  71.7

2003 vs. 2002   

Sales increased 21%, or $764.4. Acquisitions, including U.S. home-
care companies and Ashland Electronic Chemicals in 2003 and San 
Fu in July 2002, accounted for 9% of the increase. Base business 
revenue growth of 5% resulted from improved volumes across most 
businesses, slightly offset by unfavorable pricing in electronic specialty 
materials. Higher natural gas costs contractually passed through to 
customers and favorable currency effects, net of the decrease from 
divestitures, accounted for 7% of the sales increase. 

Volumes for electronic specialty materials increased, driven primarily 
by increased Asian demand. On-site and pipeline volumes in EPI were 
up 5%, led by stronger oxygen, nitrogen and hydrogen volumes. Liquid 
bulk volumes in North America declined 3%, and liquid bulk volumes 
in Europe were at a similar level to last year. Liquid bulk volumes were 
strong in Asia, up 12%. 

Pricing for electronic specialty materials decreased, due to the pro-
longed nature of the downturn in the electronics industry, excess 
supply capacity, and customer mix effects. On average, prices for liquid 
oxygen (LOX) and liquid nitrogen (LIN) in North America remained flat. 
Underlying price increases of about 3% were offset by the negative 
year-on-year impact of lower surcharges. LOX/LIN pricing in Europe 
increased by 2%. 

Operating income decreased 5%, or $29.2. Operating income included 
a net expense of $92.0 for global cost reduction plans as compared 
to the prior year, which included a net expense of $21.0 for global 
cost reduction plans. Operating income was favorably impacted by 
the contribution of acquisitions, increased volumes across most busi-
nesses, and favorable currency effects. Partially offsetting these gains 
were higher operating costs, higher pension and SAP implementation 
expenses, and lower electronics specialty material pricing. 

Gases equity affiliates’ income decreased by 6%, or $3.6. The 
decrease was due primarily to the consolidation of San Fu and the 
one-time tax benefit related to an asset revaluation at an Italian affiliate 
recorded in the prior year, offset to some extent by favorable adjust-
ments to customary post-sale liabilities associated with two divested 
cogeneration plant investments and the impact of currency effects. 
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2002 vs. 2001

Sales in 2002 declined $410.7, or 10%. Acquisitions, including San 
Fu in July 2002, accounted for a 2% increase in sales. Underlying 
base business sales declined 3%, principally due to lower shipments 
to the electronics industry and lower demand for liquid bulk products 
in North America and Europe. Electronics was affected by a reduction 
in customers’ global silicon wafer processing due to soft demand for 
most semiconductor products. The decline in base business sales was 
partially offset by higher prices for liquid bulk gases and volume growth 
in EPI. On average, prices for LOX/LIN were up 2%. Excluding sur-
charge effects, prices for LOX/LIN increased 3%. EPI on-site volumes 
grew 5%, due to higher hydrogen demand in the refining industry. The 
impact of lower natural gas cost contractually passed through to cus-
tomers and divestitures, slightly offset by favorable currency, accounted 
for the remaining sales decrease of 9%.

Operating income declined $40.9, or 6%, due principally to depressed 
conditions in the global electronics market and North American steel 
industry and higher maintenance spending in EPI. The major factors for 
the decline in operating income of the Electronics business were lower 
worldwide demand coupled with price declines resulting from excess 
industry capacity. Operating income in 2002 included a net global cost 
reduction plan expense of $21.0 as compared to the prior year, which 
included a net expense of $66.9 for global cost reduction plans. Other 
factors partially offsetting the operating income decline included the 
consolidation of San Fu in the fourth quarter of 2002, higher prices and 
improved Asian volumes. 

Equity affiliates’ income was down $9.8, or 14%, mainly due to the 
divestiture of investments in two cogeneration facilities in the fourth 
quarter of 2001, lower Electronics results and the consolidation of 
San Fu in the fourth quarter of 2002. Equity affiliates’ income in 2002 
included a tax benefit related to an asset revaluation at an Italian 
affiliate.

2004 Outlook 

Gases sales are expected to increase based upon volume growth 
driven by an improved manufacturing environment, the Ashland 
Electronic Chemicals acquisition, the full year impact of the 2003 U.S. 
homecare acquisitions, and planned U.S. homecare acquisitions in 
2004. Higher shipments are expected for Electronics during the year 
based on estimates of increased wafer production and demand from 
the flat-panel display market. Hydrogen volumes are expected to con-
tinue to grow as regulatory drivers for clean fuels continue and new 
plants to serve such demand are brought onstream during the year. 

Based on favorable demographics and other trends in the healthcare 
industry, the company’s healthcare business is expected to continue 
to grow organically. Other industrial end markets are expected to more 
closely track the general state of the manufacturing economies of the 
world. The company’s current outlook for U.S. manufacturing growth is 
2% to 6% in 2004, and volume growth assumptions for the U.S. liquid 
bulk gases business are tied to this range. Liquid bulk volumes outside 
the U.S. are also tied to manufacturing growth. The company expects 
that manufacturing growth in the European region will be below the 
U.S., while growth in Asia will exceed the U.S. Pricing in the liquid bulk 
business globally is expected to remain firm as the company continues 
to attempt to both recover cost increases and restore the business to 
reinvestment levels of return. Pricing in electronics specialty materials 
is expected to decline in 2004 as the full year impact of 2003 price 
reductions and increased volumes taken by customers should result in 
lower average prices. 

Chemicals

The Chemicals segment consists of Performance Materials and 
Chemical Intermediates. Performance Materials accounted for about 
two-thirds of the segment’s sales. Performance polymers, the largest 
product line in Performance Materials, uses vinyl acetate monomer 
(VAM) as its principal raw material. The cost of VAM generally fluctu-
ates with energy prices and industry supply and demand. Performance 
polymers are sold in several markets, which are also served by com-
peting products that are not derived from VAM, limiting the ability to 
adjust prices immediately as the cost of VAM increases. Margin fluctu-
ation results from the timing of and ability to adjust prices in response 
to changes in VAM costs. About one-third of the segment’s sales come 
from Chemical Intermediates, which include polyurethane intermedi-
ates and amines. Approximately one-half of Chemical Intermediates 
are supplied under long-term contracts under which costs are passed 
through to customers. Methylamines are sold in competitive markets 
with prices and margins fluctuating with the cost of natural gas and 
competitors’ actions. During 2004, the company will begin purchasing 
methanol for domestic methylamines production and shut down its 
methanol production facility. This will have the effect of reducing the 
volatility of methylamines margins.

Chemicals     2003  2002  2001

Sales     $1,591.2  $1,451.7  $1,522.8

Operating income     67.1  172.5  112.3

Equity affiliates’ income     10.8  11.7  7.5
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2003 vs. 2002 

Sales increased 10%, or $139.5. Acquisitions, including Sanwa 
Chemical Industry Co., Ltd. (Sanwa), accounted for a 1% increase. 
Underlying base business sales increased 4%, resulting primarily from 
improved volumes. In Chemical Intermediates, volumes increased 
8%, led by polyurethane intermediates (PUI) and higher amines, due 
to stronger PUI demand, as well as a better market for herbicides. 
Performance Materials volumes were down 1%, principally due to 
performance polymers. The impact of favorable currency effects and 
natural gas cost increases passed through to customers, slightly offset 
by divestitures, accounted for the remaining sales increase of 5%.

Operating income decreased $105.4. Operating income included a net 
expense of $58.1 for global cost reduction plans compared to the prior 
year, which included a net expense of $2.7. The remaining decline 
in operating income was driven by higher raw material and energy 
costs and weaker volumes in performance polymers. This decline was 
partially offset by favorable currency effects and improved volumes in 
polyurethane intermediates and higher amines. 

Chemicals equity affiliates’ income decreased $.9. Chemicals equity 
affiliates’ income consists primarily of a global polymers joint venture.

2002 vs. 2001

Sales in 2002 were down $71.1, or 5%. Underlying base business 
sales declined 2%. The overall volume index was flat, while the aggre-
gate price index was down 2%. In Performance Materials, volumes 
increased as performance polymers experienced higher demand. In 
Chemical Intermediates, volumes declined due to reduced demand in 
the herbicide end market for higher amines. The impact of lower natu-
ral gas cost passed through to customers and divestitures accounted 
for the remaining 3% decrease.

Operating income in 2002 increased $60.2. Operating income 
included a net expense of $2.7 for global cost reduction plans as 
compared to the prior year, which included a net expense of $28.6 for 
global cost reduction plans. The other main factor for the improvement 
was lower natural gas and lower operating costs, as productivity efforts 
and constrained spending more than offset inflationary impacts. Higher 
volumes in Performance Materials, namely in the performance poly-
mers product lines, also contributed favorably to operating income. The 
impact of lower selling prices was offset by lower raw material costs. 

Equity affiliates’ income increased $4.2, primarily due to the improved 
profitability of the global polymers joint venture.

2004 Outlook 

In Performance Materials, the expectation is for higher volumes driven 
by economic growth and the increased sale of new products across the 
portfolio. The company’s outlook for VAM costs assumes relative stabil-
ity. In Chemical Intermediates, volumes in continuing operations are 
expected to expand in 2004 in line with the assumed U.S. manufactur-
ing growth range of 2% to 6% and a normal agricultural cycle. The 
company intends to divest its European methylamines and derivatives 
business during the year. The timing of this action does not materi-
ally affect the segment’s total outlook. The company’s outlook for raw 
material costs in Chemical Intermediates includes the shutdown of its 
methanol production facility early in the year and the start-up of a long-
term purchased methanol supply arrangement in the second half of the 
fiscal year, which should materially reduce chemical raw material cost 
volatility, principally in the U.S. methylamines business. In the interim 
period between the shutdown of the company’s methanol plant and the 
start-up of the long-term methanol supply agreement, the company 
has contracted to purchase methanol on a short-term basis.

A long-term supplier of sulfuric acid, used in the production of dinitro-
toluene (DNT), emerged from Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection in June 
2003. To facilitate the supplier’s ability to emerge from bankruptcy and 
to continue supplying product to the company, the company agreed 
to participate in the supplier’s financing and has continued to supply 
additional financing. Total loans to the supplier at 30 September 2003 
totaled $39.8. If the supplier does not continue to operate, the sales 
and profitability of the chemicals segment could be materially impacted 
on an annual basis because of the company’s inability to supply all 
of its customers’ base requirements. The company does not expect a 
material loss related to this supplier.

Equipment

The Equipment segment designs and manufactures cryogenic and 
gas processing equipment for air separation, gas processing, LNG and 
hydrogen purification. The segment also builds cryogenic transporta-
tion containers for liquid helium. Equipment is sold worldwide to com-
panies involved in oil and gas recovery and processing, chemical and 
petrochemical manufacturing, power generation, and steel and primary 
metal producers. This business is cyclical, primarily impacted by capital 
spending for expansion of manufacturing capacity. 
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Equipment     2003  2002  2001

Sales     $267.8  $275.6  $250.4

Operating income     4.2  20.7  10.0

Equity affiliates’ income     .2  2.6   2.0

2003 vs. 2002 

Sales decreased $7.8, while operating income decreased $16.5. The 
2003 results included a net expense of $2.4 for global cost reduc-
tion plans. Operating income was lower due to lower helium container 
sales, lower LNG activity and lower margins in non-LNG product lines. 
Sales backlog for the Equipment segment increased to $259 at 
30 September 2003, compared to $114. It is expected that approxi-
mately $200 of the backlog will be completed during 2004. 

2002 vs. 2001

Sales in 2002 grew $25.2, while operating income increased $10.7. 
Operating income in 2001 included a net global cost reduction plan 
expense of $2.0. The sales and operating income improvement 
reflected increased activity across several product lines, particularly 
helium containers and LNG heat exchangers. Additionally, operating 
income benefited from favorable cost performance. Sales backlog for 
the Equipment segment declined to $114 at 30 September 2002, 
compared to $227, due to lower new project activity. 

2004 Outlook 

The company’s outlook for the Equipment segment is for improved 
operating income in 2004 based on an anticipation of receiving two 
to four new LNG heat exchanger orders during the year, which should 
increase Equipment segment profitability in the latter quarters. 

All Other

All other principally comprises long-term research and development 
expense and unallocated corporate expenses and income.

     2003  2002  2001

Operating (loss)     $(51.6 ) $(32.3 ) $(31.8 )

Equity affiliates’ income      15.1  —  — 

2003 vs. 2002

Operating loss increased $19.3. This increase reflected expenses 
associated with portfolio management activities in the current year and 
favorable adjustments recorded in the prior year related to a divested 
business and insurance settlements.  

Equity affiliates’ income represents favorable adjustments to custom-
ary post-sale liabilities associated with a divested business that is not 
associated with any of the company’s current segments.

2002 vs. 2001

Operating loss in 2002 was comparable to 2001. 2002 included lower 
foreign exchange gains and higher corporate expenses. 2001 included 
a $9.5 net expense for global cost reduction plans and a $6.0 charge 
for a litigation settlement. 2001 also included a higher favorable 
adjustment related to a divested business and favorable insurance 
settlements. 

Pension Benefits
The company and certain of its subsidiaries sponsor defined benefit 
plans that cover a substantial portion of all worldwide employees. 
Pension benefits earned are generally based on years of service and 
compensation during active employment. Assets under the company’s 
defined benefit plans consist primarily of equity and fixed-income 
securities. The amounts recognized in the financial statements for 
pension benefits are determined on an actuarial basis utilizing several 
different assumptions. 

For 2003, the fair market value of pension plan assets for the com-
pany’s defined benefit plans as of their valuation date increased to 
$1,147.5 from $1,012.5. The accumulated benefit obligation for these 
plans as of their measurement date was $1,815.8 and $1,430.7 for 
2003 and 2002, respectively. The increase in the obligation was due 
principally to a decline in the weighted average discount rate used to 
measure future benefit obligations to 5.8% from 6.5%.       

Approximately 65% of total company defined benefit pension plan 
assets are held in the U.S. plans. The targeted allocation of the invest-
ment portfolio of the U.S. plans is 50% in domestic equities, 20% 
in international equities, 25% in fixed income and 5% in real estate. 
The U.K. pension plans, which represent approximately 30% of the 
total defined benefit plan assets, have a targeted allocation of 50% 
in domestic equities, 30% in international equities and 20% in fixed 
income. At 30 September 2003, the actual investment portfolios were 
essentially in line with the targeted allocations.

Pension Funding

Pension funding includes both contributions to funded plans and ben-
efit payments under unfunded plans. With respect to funded plans, the 
company’s funding policy is that contributions, combined with appre-
ciation and earnings, will be sufficient to pay benefits without creating 
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unnecessary surpluses. In addition, the company ensures that contri-
butions satisfy all legal funding requirements. External actuarial firms 
analyze the liabilities and demographics of each plan, which helps 
guide the level of contributions. During 2003 and 2002, the company 
contributed $61.6 and $54.2, respectively, to the pension plans. 

2004 Outlook

Cash contributions are estimated to be approximately $200 in 2004. 
The company expects to make significant contributions, although at 
reduced levels from 2004, in succeeding years. Actual future contribu-
tions will depend on future funding legislation, discount rates, invest-
ment performance, plan design and various other factors.

Significant Assumptions

The company accounts for pension benefits using the accrual method, 
consistent with the requirements of SFAS No. 87, “Employers’ 
Accounting for Pensions.” Actuarial models are used in calculating 
the pension expense and liability related to the various plans. These 
models have an underlying assumption that the employees render ser-
vice over their service lives on a relatively smooth basis; therefore, the 
expense of benefits earned should follow a similar pattern.

Several assumptions and statistical variables are used in the models to 
calculate the expense and liability related to the plans. The company, 
in consultation with its actuaries, determines assumptions about the 
discount rate, the expected rate of return on plan assets and the future 
rate of compensation increase. Note 17 to the consolidated financial 
statements includes disclosure of these rates on a weighted aver-
age basis, encompassing both the domestic and international plans. 
The actuarial models also use assumptions on demographic factors 
such as retirement, mortality and turnover. The company believes the 
assumptions are within accepted guidelines and ranges. However, 
these actuarial assumptions could vary materially from actual results 
due to economic events and different rates of retirement, mortality 
and turnover. 

One of the critical assumptions used in the actuarial models is the 
discount rate. This rate is determined at the annual measurement date 
for each of the various plans and is therefore subject to change each 
year. The rate reflects the prevailing market rate for high-quality fixed-
income debt instruments with maturities corresponding to the expected 
duration of the benefit obligations on the measurement date. The rate 
is used to discount the future cash flows of benefit obligations back to 
the measurement date. A higher discount rate decreases the present 
value of the benefit obligations and results in lower pension expense. 
A 50 basis point change in the discount rate impacts pension expense 

by approximately $18 per year. The weighted average discount rate 
at the 2003 and 2002 measurement dates was 5.8% and 6.5%, 
respectively. This decline reflected the market conditions of lower 
interest rates.

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets represents the 
average rate of return to be earned by plan assets over the period that 
the benefits included in the benefit obligation are to be paid. Lower 
returns on the plan assets result in higher pension expense. The com-
pany uses historic market return trends combined with current market 
conditions for each asset category to estimate the rate of return. The 
weighted average actual compound rate of return earned on plan 
assets for the last ten years was 8.5%. For the last 20 years this rate 
was 10.6%. A 50 basis point change in the estimated rate of return on 
plan assets impacts pension expense by approximately $6 per year. 
The company lowered the weighted average expected rate of return 
which will be used to determine pension expense in 2004 to 8.4% 
from 9.1%. 

The expected rate of compensation increase is another key assump-
tion. The company determines this rate based on historic trends and 
comparisons to external rates. A 50 basis point change in the expected 
rate of compensation increase impacts pension expense by approxi-
mately $11 per year. The company lowered the expected rate of com-
pensation increase which will be used to determine pension expense 
in 2004 to 4.2% from 4.7%. This reduction reflected the lower levels 
of inflation. 

Pension Expense 

Pension expense in 2003 was $96.4 compared to $55.7 in 2002. 
Expense in 2003 included a special termination charge of $12.7 under 
the global cost reduction plan. Expense in 2002 included $11.4 for 
special termination, settlement and curtailment charges. In 2001, pen-
sion expense was $59.7, including $22.0 for special termination and 
settlement charges.

The year-to-year variances in pension expense are principally attribut-
able to changes in the discount rate, lower asset returns, and a reduc-
tion in the expected rate of return on plan assets. The global weighted 
average discount rates used to compute pension expense were 6.5%, 
7.1% and 7.6% for 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Pension 
expense includes the expected return on plan assets, as opposed to 
the actual returns. The expected return on plan assets is determined 
by applying the expected long-term rate of return to the market-related 
value of plan assets. The market-related value is a calculated value 
that amortizes the difference between the actual and expected returns 
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on equity securities ratably over a five-year period. The amortiza-
tion of these differences reduced the market-related value of assets 
for 2003 and resulted in higher pension expense. Also contributing 
to higher expense in 2003 was a decline in the weighted average 
expected return on plan assets. The return, used in the determination 
of expense, was 9.1% for 2003 compared to 9.4% for 2002. 

2004 Outlook

Pension expense is estimated to be $133 for 2004, which includes 
anticipated settlement charges of $9. This represents an increase of 
$37 from 2003, which included a charge of $12.7 for special termina-
tion benefits. The increase in estimated pension expense in 2004 is 
principally the result of a lower discount rate, lower asset returns in 
prior years and a decrease in the expected long-term rate of return on 
plan assets. The global weighted average discount rate and the long-
term rate of return on plan assets used to compute pension expense 
for 2004 is 5.8% and 8.4%, respectively. 

Additional Minimum Liability

A $147.1 after-tax charge was recorded to comprehensive income 
within shareholders’ equity due to the recognition of an additional 
minimum liability in 2003. The additional minimum liability is equal 
to the accumulated benefit obligation less the fair value of pension 
plan assets in excess of the accrued pension cost. The increase in the 
additional minimum liability resulted principally from the decline in the 
discount rate. 

In 2002, a $158.2 after-tax charge was recorded to comprehen-
sive income within shareholders’ equity due to the recognition of an 
additional minimum liability and the reversal of prepaid pension plan 
assets. The increase in the additional minimum liability resulted princi-
pally from the decline in the discount rate and the loss in value of plan 
assets. 

Recognition of Actuarial Gains and Losses

At the end of 2003 and 2002, unrecognized actuarial losses for the 
defined benefit plans were $866.6 and $599.6, respectively. 
These losses principally reflect a decline in the discount rate and dif-
ferences between the expected and actual return on plan assets. 
SFAS No. 87 requires the amortization of unrecognized actuarial gains/
losses in excess of certain thresholds into pension expense over the 
average remaining service lives of the employees to the extent they are 
not offset by future gains/losses. Amortization of the total unrecognized 
actuarial loss at the end of 2003 will increase pension expense by 

approximately $24 in 2004. Future increases in the discount rate and 
higher than expected returns on plan assets would reduce the 
unrecognized actuarial losses and resulting amortization in years 
beyond 2004. 

Stock-Based Compensation 
The company applies Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion 
No. 25 in accounting for its stock option plans. Accordingly, no com-
pensation expense has been recognized. If the company recognized 
compensation expense in accordance with SFAS No. 123, net income 
would have been reduced by $37.9, $40.9 and $30.1 in years 2003, 
2002 and 2001, respectively. The company intends to continue apply-
ing its current accounting methodology until a new uniform account-
ing standard for stock options is issued. This is consistent with the 
company’s goal of providing understandable information on a basis 
comparable with what other companies disclose. See Note 1 and 
Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements for further information.

Environmental Matters
The company is subject to various environmental laws and regulations 
in the United States and foreign countries where it has operations. 
Compliance with these laws and regulations results in higher capital 
expenditures and costs. Additionally, from time to time, the company 
is involved in proceedings under the Comprehensive Environmental 
Response, Compensation and Liability Act (the federal Superfund law), 
similar state laws and the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act 
(RCRA) relating to the designation of certain sites for investigation and 
possible cleanup. The company’s accounting policies for environmental 
expenditures are discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

The amounts charged to earnings on an after-tax basis related to 
environmental matters totaled $29.6, $24.4 and $21.6 for 2003, 
2002 and 2001, respectively. These amounts represent an estimate of 
expenses for compliance with environmental laws, as well as remedial 
activities, and costs incurred to meet internal company standards. 
Such costs are estimated to be $30 and $31 in 2004 and 2005, 
respectively.

Although precise amounts are difficult to define, the company esti-
mates that in 2003, it spent approximately $16 on capital projects to 
control pollution versus $14 in 2002. Capital expenditures to control 
pollution in future years are estimated at $17 in 2004 and $14 in 
2005.
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It is the company’s policy to accrue environmental investigatory, exter-
nal legal costs and noncapital remediation costs for identified sites 
when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount 
of loss can be reasonably estimated. The potential exposure for such 
costs is estimated to range from $9 to a reasonably possible upper 
exposure of $21. The balance sheet at 30 September 2003 and 2002 
included an accrual of $15.3.  

Actual costs to be incurred at identified sites in future periods may vary 
from the estimates, given inherent uncertainties in evaluating envi-
ronmental exposures. Subject to the imprecision in estimating future 
environmental costs, the company does not expect that any sum it may 
have to pay in connection with environmental matters in excess of the 
amounts recorded or disclosed above would have a materially adverse 
effect on its financial condition or results of operations in any one year.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
The company maintained a solid financial position throughout 2003. 
Cash from operations, supplemented with proceeds from asset sales 
and the beginning of the year cash balance, provided funding for the 
company’s capital spending program, debt repayment and dividend 
payout. The company is currently rated A/A2 (long-term) and A-1/P-1 
(commercial paper), respectively, by Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s.

Cash Flows

The company’s cash flows from operating, investing and financing 
activities, as reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, 
are summarized in the following table:

     2003  2002  2001

Cash provided by (used for):
 Operating activities     $   1,036.0  $1,063.9  $1,084.0
 Investing activities     (1,046.6 ) (493.6 ) (277.7 )
 Financing activities     (182.7 ) (385.0 ) (832.9 )

Effect of exchange rate changes 
on cash      15.8  2.2   (1.3 )

(Decrease) increase in cash and 
cash items     $ (177.5 ) $ 187.5  $ (27.9 )

Operating Activities
2003 vs. 2002

Net cash provided by operating activities decreased $27.9, or 3%. 
Before working capital changes, the contribution of net income 
adjusted for noncash items to cash provided by operating activities was 
up $38.8. Net income decreased by $128.1. Noncash adjustments 
favorably contributing to the change in cash provided by operating 

activities included increased depreciation expense, the larger impair-
ment of long-lived assets in 2003 and a reduced gain on the sale of 
assets and investments. The increase in depreciation expense of $59.2 
was due principally to currency effects from a weaker U.S. dollar and 
acquisitions. The expenses for the impairment of long-lived assets 
increased $88.0, principally due to the 2003 global cost reduction 
plan. The gain on the sale of assets and investments was higher in 
2002 by $58.1, principally due to the gain on sale of the U.S. pack-
aged gas business in 2002. Additionally, cash provided by operating 
activities in 2003 benefited from higher dividend payments from equity 
affiliates. These favorable impacts were more than offset by deferred 
income taxes and an increased usage of cash for working capital in 
2003. The $38.4 unfavorable impact from deferred income taxes 
resulted primarily from higher foreign tax benefits. The increase in 
accounts receivable was primarily due to the impact of natural gas cost 
contractually passed through to customers. Inventories increased as a 
result of higher energy and raw material costs. Payables and accrued 
liabilities increased primarily due to expenses for the 2003 global cost 
reduction plan.

2002 vs. 2001

Cash provided by operating activities in 2002 declined $20.1, or 
2%. Before working capital changes, the contribution of net income 
adjusted for noncash items to cash provided by operating activities was 
up $69.5. Net income increased $59.8. Noncash adjustments favor-
ably contributing to the change in cash provided by operating activities 
included deferred income taxes and a reduced gain on the sale of 
assets and investments. The favorable impact from deferred income 
taxes of $26.2 resulted from higher temporary differences associated 
with foreign subsidiaries. The gain on the sale of assets and invest-
ments was higher in 2001 by $38.2 due to the gain on the divestiture 
of the interest in cogeneration facilities. These favorable impacts were 
offset by the prior year loss on the early retirement of debt. The change 
in working capital was due principally to the collection of a tax refund 
in 2001 associated with a loss on currency hedges. 

Investing Activities
2003 vs. 2002

In 2003, cash used for investing activities increased by $553.0, due 
principally to acquisitions and lower proceeds from the sale of assets 
and investments. Acquisitions in 2003, totaling $529.6, included 
Ashland’s Electronic Chemicals business for $293.2 in August 2003, 
AHS for $165.8 in October 2002, additional small homecare busi-
nesses and Sanwa. Acquisitions in 2002, totaling $114.8, included the 
purchase of an additional 22% of the outstanding shares of San Fu, 
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raising the company’s ownership interest to 70%. Proceeds from the 
sale of assets and investments declined $190.8 from the prior year. 
The company sold its Canadian packaged gas business in April 2003 
for proceeds of $41.2. In 2002, the company sold the majority of its 
U.S. packaged gas business for proceeds of $254.5. 

2002 vs. 2001

In 2002, cash used for investing activities increased by $215.9, due 
principally to lower proceeds from the sale of assets and investments. 
In 2001, the company sold its investments in two cogeneration proj-
ects and certain U.S. cryogenic vessel equipment. 

Capital Expenditures

As a result of higher acquisitions, capital expenditures in 2003 
totaled $1,170.9, compared to $805.6. As in 2002, additions to 
plant and equipment in 2003 were largely in support of the worldwide 
Gases business.  

Capital expenditures are detailed in the following table:

     2003  2002  2001

Additions to plant and equipment   $  612.9  $627.6  $708.3

Investments in and advances to 
unconsolidated affiliates     6.1  39.2  38.3

Acquisitions, less cash acquired   529.6  114.8  59.2

Long-term debt assumed in 
acquisitions     5.2  20.1  —

Capital leases      17.1  3.9  .5

     $1,170.9  $805.6  $806.3

2004 Outlook

Capital expenditures for new plant and equipment in 2004 are 
expected to be between $650 and $750. In addition, the company 
intends to continue to evaluate acquisition opportunities and invest-
ments in affiliated entities. It is anticipated that these expenditures will 
be funded primarily with cash from operations. 

Financing Activities
2003 vs. 2002

Cash used for financing activities declined $202.3 in 2003, primar-
ily due to a $37.6 increase in short-term borrowings in 2003 versus 
a $170.9 reduction in 2002. Higher payments on long-term debt in 
2003 were partially funded by increased long-term debt proceeds.

2002 vs. 2001

Cash used for financing activities declined $447.9 in 2002. Lower pay-
ments on long-term debt of $593.0 were partially offset by a $202.0 

reduction in commercial paper borrowings. The company repurchased 
$541.1 of its outstanding long-term fixed-rate debt during 2001. 
The average remaining life of the repurchased debt was 18.5 years, 
and the average coupon was 7.56%. In 2002, the company did not 
purchase treasury stock, as the share repurchase program was sus-
pended in the fourth quarter of 2001. During 2001, the company pur-
chased 2.1 million of its outstanding shares at a cost of $87.2. 

Financing and Capital Structure 

Capital needs in 2003 were satisfied with cash from operations, pro-
ceeds from asset sales and the beginning of the year cash balance. 
At the end of 2003, total debt outstanding was $2.5 billion compared 
to $2.4 billion, with the increase due to the impact of the weaker 
U.S. dollar on the translation of foreign currency debt. Total debt at 
30 September 2003 and 2002 expressed as a percentage of the sum 
of total debt, shareholders’ equity and minority interest was 38.7% and 
39.6%, respectively.

Long-term debt financings in 2003 totaled $162.8. This was com-
posed primarily of floating-rate U.S. dollar borrowings and fixed- and 
floating-rate Taiwan dollar borrowings with terms ranging from four to 
thirty-five years.

Commercial paper outstanding at 30 September 2003 was $92.2. 
Substantial credit facilities are maintained to provide backup funding 
for commercial paper and to ensure availability of adequate sources 
of liquidity. At 30 September 2003, the company’s committed lines 
of credit totaled $600, maturing in January 2005. No borrowings 
were outstanding under these commitments at the end of 2003. The 
company expects to replace these commitments with a new committed 
facility totaling at least $600, maturing in 2009.

Additional commitments of $25.6 are maintained by the company’s 
foreign subsidiaries, of which $17.1 was borrowed and outstanding at 
30 September 2003.

During 2004, the company expects to file a form S-3 Registration 
Statement with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission for 
the incremental issuance of up to $1 billion of a variety of securities 
including debt securities, preferred stock and common stock. The pri-
mary purpose of this registration is to provide capacity for the company 
to issue debt securities to replace debt maturing in 2004 and 2005.

The Board of Directors in May 2003 increased the quarterly cash divi-
dend 10%, from 21 cents per share to 23 cents per share. Dividends 
are declared by the Board of Directors and are usually paid during the 
sixth week after the close of the fiscal quarter.
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Contractual Obligations 
The company is obligated to make future payments under various contracts such as debt agreements, lease agreements and unconditional pur-
chase obligations. The following table summarizes these contractual obligations of the company as of 30 September 2003.

                   Payments Due by Period 

 Total  2004  2005  2006  2007  2008  Thereafter

Long-term debt obligations:

 Debt maturities $2,293  $164  $  793  $276  $492  $116  $452

 Contractual interest 477  120  92  59  44  18  144

Capital leases 57  13  24  5  5  1  9

Operating leases 233  50  45  36  17  11  74

Unconditional purchase obligations 592  111  58  43  41  40  299

Total contractual obligations $3,652  $458  $1,012  $419  $599  $186  $978

Long-Term Debt Obligations

The long-term debt obligations include the maturity payments of 
long-term debt, including current portion, and the related contractual 
interest obligations. Refer to Note 11 to the consolidated financial 
statements for additional information on long-term debt.

Contractual interest is the interest the company is contracted to pay on 
the long-term debt obligations without taking into account the interest 
impact of interest rate swaps related to any of this debt, which at cur-
rent interest rates would reduce contractual interest. The company 
had $442.5 of long-term debt subject to variable interest rates at 
30 September 2003, excluding fixed-rate debt that has been swapped 
to variable-rate debt. The rate assumed for the variable interest com-
ponent of the contractual interest obligation was the rate in effect at 
30 September 2003. Variable interest rates are primarily determined 
by LIBOR interest rates in the currency in which the debt is denomi-
nated and by U.S. short-term tax-exempt interest rates.

Leases 

Refer to Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements for additional 
information on capital and operating leases.

Unconditional Purchase Obligations

Most of the company’s significant long-term unconditional purchase 
obligations relate to feedstock supply for numerous HyCO (hydrogen, 
carbon monoxide and syngas) facilities. The price of feedstock supply 
is principally related to the price of natural gas. However, long-term 
take-or-pay sales contracts to HyCO customers are generally matched 
to the term of the feedstock supply obligations and provide recovery of 
price increases in the feedstock supply. Due to the matching of numer-

ous feedstock supply obligations to customer sales contracts, the com-
pany does not believe these obligations would have a material effect on 
its financial condition or results of operations.

Natural gas supply obligations that are not related to HyCO long-term 
customer contracts are principally short-term requirements contracts 
or gas transportation agreements.

The above unconditional purchase obligations also include the fixed 
demand charge for electric power under numerous supply contracts. 
A fixed demand charge is generally included in electric power supply 
agreement pricing and is generally reset at least annually; therefore, 
the fixed obligation is principally included in 2004. A portion of the 
power supply requirement relates to long-term take-or-pay sales 
contracts to industrial gas customers, which provide for recovery of 
power costs.  

The company also has contractual obligations for materials, supplies 
and services as part of the ordinary conduct of business that are not 
unconditional purchase obligations and therefore not included in the 
above table. Critical raw material supply contracts in the Chemicals 
segment are principally requirements contracts at market prices. 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
The company has entered into certain guarantee agreements and an 
arrangement involving the sale and leaseback of U.S. cryogenic vessel 
equipment. The company’s guarantee agreements are discussed in 
Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements. Information on the 
sale and leaseback of U.S. cryogenic vessel equipment is also con-
tained in Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements. The com-
pany has not entered into any agreements under which the company 
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has an obligation arising out of a variable interest entity. The company 
does not have any derivative instruments indexed to the company’s 
own stock. The company’s off-balance sheet arrangements are not 
reasonably likely to have a material impact on financial condition, 
changes in financial condition, results of operations, or liquidity.

Related Party Transactions
The company’s principal related parties are equity affiliates operating in 
industrial gas and chemicals businesses. The company did not engage 
in any material transactions involving related parties that included 
terms or other aspects that differ from those which would be negoti-
ated at arm’s length with clearly independent parties.

Market Risks and Sensitivity Analysis
The company’s earnings, cash flows and financial position are exposed 
to market risks relating to fluctuations in interest rates and foreign 
currency exchange rates. It is the policy of the company to minimize 
its cash flow exposure to adverse changes in currency and exchange 
rates and to manage the financial risks inherent in funding the com-
pany with debt capital.

The company addresses these financial exposures through a con-
trolled program of risk management that includes the use of derivative 
financial instruments. Counterparties to all derivative contracts are 
major financial institutions, thereby minimizing the risk of credit loss. 
All instruments are entered into for other than trading purposes. The 
utilization of these instruments is described more fully in Note 6 to the 
consolidated financial statements. The major accounting policies for 
these instruments are described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

The company’s derivative and other financial instruments consist of 
long-term debt (including current portion), interest rate swaps, cross 
currency interest rate swaps, foreign exchange-forward contracts 
and foreign exchange-option contracts. The net market value of these 
financial instruments combined is referred to below as the net financial 
instrument position. The net financial instrument position does not 
include other investments of $63.4 at 30 September 2003 and $50.1 
at 30 September 2002 as disclosed in Note 6 to the consolidated 
financial statements. These amounts primarily represent an investment 
in a publicly traded foreign company accounted for by the cost method. 
The company assessed the materiality of the market risk exposure 
on these other investments and determined this exposure to be 
immaterial.

At 30 September 2003 and 2002, the net financial instrument position 
was a liability of $2,542.1 and $2,363.0, respectively. The increase in 
the net financial instrument position was due primarily to the impact of 
a weaker U.S. dollar on the translation of foreign currency debt and the 
market value of foreign exchange-forward contracts and the impact of 
lower global interest rates on the market value of fixed-rate debt.

The analysis below presents the sensitivity of the market value of the 
company’s financial instruments to selected changes in market rates 
and prices. The range of changes chosen reflects the company’s view 
of changes which are reasonably possible over a one-year period. 
Market values are the present value of projected future cash flows 
based on the market rates and prices chosen. The market values for 
interest rate risk and foreign currency risk are calculated by the com-
pany using a third-party software model that utilizes standard pricing 
models to determine the present value of the instruments based on 
market conditions (interest rates, spot and forward exchange rates and 
implied volatilities) as of the valuation date. 

Interest Rate Risk

The company’s debt portfolio, including swap agreements, as of 
30 September 2003 primarily comprised debt denominated in Euros 
(44%) and U.S. dollars (32%). This debt portfolio is composed of 64% 
fixed-rate debt and 36% variable-rate debt. Changes in interest rates 
have different impacts on the fixed- and variable-rate portions of the 
company’s debt portfolio. A change in interest rates on the fixed portion 
of the debt portfolio impacts the net financial instrument position but 
has no impact on interest incurred or cash flows. A change in interest 
rates on the variable portion of the debt portfolio impacts the interest 
incurred and cash flows but does not impact the net financial instru-
ment position.

The sensitivity analysis related to the fixed portion of the company’s 
debt portfolio assumes an instantaneous 100 basis point move in inter-
est rates from the levels at 30 September 2003 and 2002, with 
all other variables (including foreign exchange rates) held constant. 
A 100 basis point increase in market interest rates would result in a 
decrease of $41 and $52 in the net liability position of financial instru-
ments at 30 September 2003 and 2002, respectively. A 100 basis 
point decrease in market interest rates would result in an increase of 
$44 and $55 in the net liability position of financial instruments at 
30 September 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Based on the variable-rate debt included in the company’s debt port-
folio, including the interest rate swap agreements, as of 30 September 
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2003 and 2002, a 100 basis point increase in interest rates would 
result in an additional $9 and $8 in interest incurred per year at 
30 September 2003 and 2002, respectively. A 100 basis point decline 
would lower interest incurred by $9 and $8 per year at 30 September 
2003 and 2002, respectively. 

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

The sensitivity analysis assumes an instantaneous 10% change in the 
foreign currency exchange rates from their levels at 30 September 
2003 and 2002, with all other variables (including interest rates) 
held constant. A 10% strengthening of the functional currency of an 
entity versus all other currencies would result in a decrease of $223 
and $188 in the net liability position of financial instruments at 
30 September 2003 and 2002, respectively. A 10% weakening of the 
functional currency of an entity versus all other currencies would result 
in an increase of $217 and $183 in the net liability position of financial 
instruments at 30 September 2003 and 2002, respectively.

The primary currencies for which the company has exchange rate 
exposure are the U.S. dollar versus the Euro, the U.S. dollar versus 
the U.K. Pound Sterling and the Euro versus the U.K. Pound Sterling. 
Foreign currency debt, cross currency interest rate swaps and foreign 
exchange-forward contracts are used in countries where the com-
pany does business, thereby reducing its net asset exposure. Foreign 
exchange-forward contracts also are used to hedge the company’s 
firm and highly anticipated foreign currency cash flows, along with 
foreign exchange-option contracts. Thus, there is either an asset or 
cash flow exposure related to all of the financial instruments in the 
above sensitivity analysis for which the impact of a movement in 
exchange rates would be in the opposite direction and materially equal 
(or more favorable in the case of purchased foreign exchange-option 
contracts) to the impact on the instruments in the analysis.

Inflation
The financial statements are presented in accordance with account-
ing principles generally accepted in the United States and do not fully 
reflect the impact of prior years’ inflation. While the U.S. inflation rate 
has been modest for several years, the company operates in many 
countries with both inflation and currency issues. The ability to pass on 
inflationary cost increases is an uncertainty due to general economic 
conditions and competitive situations. It is estimated that the cost of 
replacing the company’s plant and equipment today is greater than its 
historical cost. Accordingly, depreciation expense would be greater if 
the expense were stated on a current cost basis.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of the company’s financial 
condition and results of operations is based on the consolidated finan-
cial statements and accompanying notes that have been prepared in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States. The preparation of these financial statements requires man-
agement to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets 
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual 
results could differ from those estimates.

Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements describes the com-
pany’s major accounting policies. Judgments and estimates of un-
certainties are required in applying the company’s accounting policies 
in many areas. The following are areas requiring significant judgments 
and estimates: depreciable lives of plant and equipment, cash flow and 
valuation assumptions in performing impairment tests of long-lived 
assets and equity investments, and estimated costs to be incurred for 
environmental liabilities and pension benefits. 

Application of the critical accounting policies discussed below requires 
management’s significant judgments, often as the result of the need 
to make estimates of matters that are inherently uncertain. If actual 
results were to differ materially from the estimates made, the reported 
results could be materially affected. However, the company is not cur-
rently aware of any reasonably likely events or circumstances that 
would result in materially different results. 

The company’s senior management has reviewed these critical 
accounting policies and estimates and the Management’s Discussion 
and Analysis regarding them with its audit committee.

Information concerning the company’s implementation and impact 
of new accounting standards issued by the Financial Accounting 
Standards Board (FASB) is discussed in Note 2. Otherwise, the com-
pany did not adopt an accounting policy in the past year that had a 
material impact on the company’s financial condition, change in finan-
cial condition or results of operations. 

Depreciable Lives of Plant and Equipment

Plant and equipment is recorded at cost and depreciated using the 
straight-line method, which deducts equal amounts of cost of each 
asset from earnings every year over its estimated economic useful life. 
Net plant and equipment at 30 September 2003 totaled $5,637.1, 
representing 60% of total assets. Depreciation expense during 2003 
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totaled $640.2, representing 11% of total costs and expenses. Given 
the significance of plant and equipment and associated depreciation 
to the company’s financial statements, the determination of an asset’s 
economic useful life is considered to be a critical accounting estimate. 
The estimate is critical for the company’s Gases and Chemicals seg-
ments, both capital-intensive businesses in which the company owns 
and operates plant and equipment.

Economic useful life is the duration of time the asset is expected to 
be productively employed by the company, which may be less than 
its physical life. Management’s assumptions on the following factors, 
among others, affect the determination of estimated economic useful 
life: wear and tear, obsolescence, technical standards, contract life, 
changes in market demand and raw material availability. The company 
makes estimates and assumptions regarding its competitive position in 
various end markets and geographic locations. 

The estimated economic useful life of an asset is monitored to ensure 
its appropriateness, especially in light of changed business circum-
stances. For example, changes in technological advances, changes in 
the estimated future demand for products, or excessive wear and tear 
may result in a shorter estimated useful life than originally anticipated. 
In these cases, the company would depreciate the remaining net 
book value over the new estimated remaining life, thereby increasing 
depreciation expense per year on a prospective basis. Likewise, if the 
estimated useful life is increased, the adjustment to the useful life 
decreases depreciation expense per year on a prospective basis. Over 
the past three years, changes in economic useful life assumptions 
have not had a material impact on the company’s reported results. 

The company has numerous long-term customer supply contracts, 
particularly in the gases on-site business. These contracts principally 
have initial contract terms of 15 to 20 years. Depreciable lives of the 
production assets related to long-term contracts are matched to the 
contract lives. Extensions to the contract term of supply frequently 
occur prior to the expiration of the initial term. As contract terms are 
extended, the depreciable life of the remaining net book value of the 
production assets is adjusted to match the new contract term. 

The depreciable lives of merchant gas production facilities are princi-
pally 15 years. Major chemical production facilities are also generally 
depreciated over 15 years. The terms of customer contracts associ-
ated with products produced at these types of facilities typically have 
a much shorter term. Management has determined a 15-year life to 
be appropriate based on historical experience combined with its judg-
ment on future assumptions such as technological advances, potential 

for obsolescence, competitors’ actions, etc. Management monitors its 
assumptions and may potentially need to adjust depreciable life as cir-
cumstances change. A change in the depreciable life for all merchant 
chemical and gas facilities by one year would impact annual deprecia-
tion expense by approximately $20. 

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Equity Investments
Plant and Equipment

Net plant and equipment at 30 September 2003 totaled $5,637.1. 
Plant and equipment held for use is grouped for impairment testing at 
the lowest level for which there are identifiable cash flows. Impairment 
testing of the asset group occurs whenever events or changes in cir-
cumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not 
be recoverable. The company assesses recoverability by comparing 
the carrying amount of the asset group to the estimated undiscounted 
future cash flows expected to be generated by the assets. If an asset 
group is considered impaired, the impairment loss to be recognized 
would be measured as the amount by which the asset group’s carry-
ing amount exceeds its fair value. Assets to be disposed of by sale are 
reported at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell. 

The estimate of plant and equipment fair value is based on estimated 
discounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset 
group. The assumptions underlying cash flow projections represent 
management’s best estimates at the time of the impairment review. 
Factors that management must estimate include: industry and market 
conditions, sales volume and prices, costs to produce, inflation, etc. 
Changes in key assumptions or actual conditions which differ from 
estimates could result in an impairment charge. The company uses 
reasonable and supportable assumptions when performing impair-
ment reviews and cannot predict the occurrence of future events and 
circumstances that could result in impairment charges. Over the past 
three years, there have been no impairments of asset groups held for 
use. As part of the actions taken in the company’s global cost reduction 
plans, recognized impairments of assets to be sold or abandoned were 
$90.1, $3.7 and $23.8 in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Refer to 
the Global Cost Reduction Plans discussion above. 

Goodwill

The purchase method of accounting for business combinations 
requires the company to make use of estimates and judgments to 
allocate the purchase price paid for acquisitions to the fair value of 
the net tangible and identifiable intangible assets. Goodwill represents 
the excess of the aggregate purchase price over the fair value of net 
assets of an acquired entity. Goodwill, including goodwill associated 
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with equity affiliates, was $793.5 as of 30 September 2003. The 
majority of the company’s goodwill is assigned to reporting units within 
the Gases segment. Disclosures related to goodwill are included in 
Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

The company adopted SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible 
Assets,” on 1 October 2001. In accordance with SFAS No.142, good-
will is no longer amortized on a recurring basis but rather is subject 
to periodic impairment testing. Prior to adopting SFAS No. 142, the 
company amortized goodwill into income over periods not exceeding 
40 years.

The company performs an impairment test annually in the fourth 
quarter of the fiscal year. In addition, goodwill would be tested more 
frequently if changes in circumstances or the occurrence of events 
indicated potential impairment exists. The impairment test requires the 
company to compare the fair value of business reporting units to car-
rying value including assigned goodwill. The results of the impairment 
tests have indicated fair value amounts exceeded carrying amounts by 
a substantial margin. 

The company primarily uses the present value of future cash flows 
to determine fair value. The company’s valuation model assumes a 
five-year growth period for the business and an estimated exit trading 
multiple. Management judgment is required in the estimation of future 
operating results and to determine the appropriate exit multiple. The 
exit multiple is determined from comparable industry transactions. 
Future operating results and exit multiples could reasonably differ 
from the estimates. However, given the substantial margin by which 
fair value exceeded carrying amounts in the latest goodwill impair-
ment review, the company does not anticipate a material impact on the 
financial statements from differences in these assumptions. 

Equity Investments

Investments in and advances to equity affiliates totaled $553.5 at 
30 September 2003. The majority of the company’s investments are 
nonpublicly traded ventures with other companies in the industrial gas 
or chemicals business. Summarized financial information of equity 
affiliates is included in Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements. 
Equity investments are reviewed for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the 
investment may not be recoverable. 

In the event that a decline in fair value of an investment occurs, and 
the decline in value is considered to be other than temporary, an 
impairment loss would be recognized. Management’s estimate of 
fair value of an investment is based on estimated discounted future 

cash flows expected to be generated by the investee. Changes in key 
assumptions about the financial condition of an investee or actual 
conditions which differ from estimates could result in an impairment 
charge. Over the past three years, there have been no impairment 
charges associated with an equity investment. 

Environmental Liabilities

Accruals for environmental loss contingencies are recorded when it is 
probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount can reason-
ably be estimated. The company estimates the exposure for environ-
mental contingencies to range from $9 to a reasonably possible upper 
exposure of $21. The balance sheet at 30 September 2003 included 
an accrual of $15.3, primarily as part of other noncurrent liabilities. 
Management views the measurement of environmental loss contin-
gency accruals as a critical accounting estimate because of the con-
siderable uncertainty surrounding estimation and the need to forecast 
into the distant future. 

In the normal course of business, the company is involved in legal pro-
ceedings under the federal Superfund law, similar state environmental 
laws and RCRA relating to the designation of certain sites for investi-
gation or remediation. Presently, there are approximately 40 sites on 
which a final settlement has not been reached where the company, 
along with others, has been designated a potentially responsible party 
by the Environmental Protection Agency or is otherwise engaged in 
investigation or remediation. In addition, the company is also involved 
in cleanup activities at certain of its manufacturing sites. Sites for 
which the company monitors environmental exposure are related to 
operations within the Gases and Chemicals segments as well as dis-
continued businesses. 

Measurement of environmental accruals is based on the evaluation of 
currently available information with respect to each individual site and 
considers factors such as existing technology, presently enacted laws 
and regulations, and prior experience in remediation of contaminated 
sites. An environmental accrual related to cleanup of a contaminated 
site might include, for example, provision for one or more of the fol-
lowing types of costs: site investigation and testing costs, cleanup 
costs, costs related to soil and water contamination resulting from 
tank ruptures, postremediation monitoring costs and outside legal 
fees. Environmental accruals include costs related to other potentially 
responsible parties to the extent that the company has reason to 
believe such parties will not fully pay their proportionate share. The 
accruals also do not take into account any claims for recoveries from 
insurance and are not discounted.
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As assessments and remediation progress at individual sites, the 
amount of the projected cost is reviewed periodically, and the accrual 
is adjusted to reflect additional technical and legal information that 
becomes available. Management has a well-established process in 
place to identify and monitor the company’s environmental exposures. 
An environmental accrual analysis is prepared and maintained that lists 
all environmental loss contingencies, even where an accrual has not 
been established. This analysis assists in monitoring the company’s 
overall environmental exposure and serves as a tool to facilitate on-
going communication among the company’s technical experts, environ-
mental managers, environmental lawyers and financial management 
to ensure that required accruals are recorded and potential exposures 
disclosed. 

Actual costs to be incurred at identified sites in future periods may 
vary from the estimates, given the inherent uncertainties in evaluat-
ing environmental exposures. Using reasonably possible alternative 
assumptions of the exposure level could result in an increase to the 
environmental accrual. Due to the inherent uncertainties related to 
environmental exposures, a significant increase to the reasonably pos-
sible upper exposure level could occur if a new site was designated, 
the scope of remediation was increased or a significant increase in the 
company’s proportionate share occurred.

Pension Benefits

The company sponsors defined benefit pension plans in various forms 
for employees who meet eligibility requirements. Several assumptions 
and statistical variables are used in actuarial models to calculate the 
pension expense and liability related to the various plans. Assumptions 
about the discount rate, the expected rate of return on plan assets and 
the future rate of compensation increases are determined by the com-
pany. The actuarial models also use assumptions on demographic fac-
tors such as retirement, mortality and turnover. Management considers 
the accounting for pension benefits critical because of the significance 
and number of assumptions used. Depending on the assumptions 
selected, pension expense could vary significantly and have a material 
effect on reported earnings. The assumptions used can also materially 
affect the measurement of benefit obligations. For a detailed discus-
sion of the company’s pension benefits, see Pension Benefits above 
and Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements. 

New Accounting Standards 
In November 2002, the FASB published Interpretation No. 45, 
“Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, 
Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others,” and the 
Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) reached a consensus on Issue 
No. 00-21, “Accounting for Revenue Arrangements with Multiple 
Deliverables.” In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, 
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and 
Disclosure.” In January 2003, the FASB published Interpretation 
No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities.” In April 2003, 
the FASB issued SFAS No. 149, “Amendment of Statement 133 on 
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.” In May 2003, the FASB 
issued SFAS No. 150, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments 
with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity.” In May 2003, the 
FASB ratified the EITF consensus on Issue No. 01-08, “Determining 
Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease.” See Note 2 to the consoli-
dated financial statements for information concerning the company’s 
implementation and impact of new accounting standards.

Forward-Looking Statements
The forward-looking statements contained in this document are based 
on current expectations at the time the document was originally pre-
pared regarding important risk factors. Management does not antici-
pate publicly updating any of its expectations except as part of the 
quarterly earnings announcement process. 

Actual results may differ materially from those forward-looking state-
ments expressed. In addition to important risk factors and uncertain-
ties referred to in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis, factors 
that might cause forward-looking statements to differ materially from 
actual results include those specifically referenced as future events or 
outcomes that the company anticipates as well as, among other things, 
overall economic and business conditions different than those cur-
rently anticipated and demand for the company’s goods and services 
during that time; competitive factors in the industries in which it com-
petes; interruption in ordinary sources of supply; the ability to recover 
increased energy and raw material costs from customers; spikes in 
the pricing of natural gas; changes in government regulations; conse-
quences of acts of war or terrorism impacting the United States and 
other markets; the success of implementing cost reduction programs; 
the timing, impact, and other uncertainties of future acquisitions or 
divestitures; significant fluctuations in interest rates and foreign cur-
rencies; the impact of tax and other legislation and regulations in juris-
dictions in which the company and its affiliates operate; and the timing 
and rate at which tax credits can be utilized.
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The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared by the company. They conform with accounting principles gener-
ally accepted in the United States and reflect judgments and estimates as to the expected effects of incomplete transactions and events being 
accounted for currently. The company believes that the accounting systems and related controls that it maintains are sufficient to provide reason-
able assurance that assets are safeguarded, transactions are appropriately authorized and recorded, and the financial records are reliable for pre-
paring such financial statements. The concept of reasonable assurance is based on the recognition that the cost of a system of internal accounting 
controls must be related to the benefits derived. The company maintains an internal audit function that is responsible for evaluating the adequacy 
and application of financial and operating controls and for testing compliance with company policies and procedures.

The independent auditors are engaged to perform an audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States. Their report follows.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors entirely comprises individuals who are not employees of the company. This Committee meets peri-
odically with the independent auditors, the internal auditors and management to consider audit results and to discuss significant internal account-
ing control, auditing and financial reporting matters. The Audit Committee recommends the selection of the independent auditors who are then 
appointed by the Board of Directors, subject to ratification by the shareholders.

John P. Jones III   John R. Owings
Chairman, President and   Vice President and 
Chief Executive Officer  Chief Financial Officer
24 October 2003   24 October 2003

Company Responsibility for Financial Statements
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Reports of Independent Auditors

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of Air Products and Chemicals, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Air Products and Chemicals, Inc. (a Delaware corporation) and subsidiaries as of 
30 September 2003 and 2002, and the related consolidated statements of income, cash flows and shareholders’ equity for the years then ended. 
These financial statements are the responsibility of the company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial state-
ments based on our audits. The financial statements of Air Products and Chemicals, Inc. for the year ended 30 September 2001 were audited by 
other auditors who have ceased operations. Those auditors expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements, before the revisions as 
described in Note 1 and Note 10 to the financial statements, in their report dated 26 October 2001.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that 
we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit 
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing 
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. 
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the 2003 and 2002 financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Air Products 
and Chemicals, Inc. and subsidiaries as of 30 September 2003 and 2002, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then 
ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed above, the financial statements of Air Products and Chemicals, Inc. for the year ended 30 September 2001 were audited by 
other auditors who have ceased operations. As described in Note 1, those financial statements have been revised. We audited the adjustments 
described in Note 1 that were applied to revise the 2001 financial statements. In our opinion, such adjustments are appropriate and have been 
properly applied. In addition, as described in Note 10, the financial statements have been revised to include the transitional disclosures required 
by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” which was adopted as of 1 October 2001. In our 
opinion, the disclosures for 2001 in Note 10 are appropriate. However, we were not engaged to audit, review, or apply any procedures to the 2001 
financial statements of Air Products and Chemicals, Inc. other than with respect to such adjustments and disclosures, and, accordingly, we do not 
express an opinion or any other form of assurance on the 2001 financial statements taken as a whole.

KPMG LLP
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
24 October 2003
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The following report is a copy of a previously issued Arthur Andersen LLP (“Andersen”) report, and the report has not been reissued by Andersen. 
The Andersen report refers to the consolidated balance sheets as of 30 September 2001 and 2000 and the consolidated statements of income, 
cash flows and shareholders’ equity for the years ended 30 September 2000 and 1999, which are no longer included in the accompanying 
financial statements.

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors, Air Products and Chemicals, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Air Products and Chemicals, Inc. (a Delaware corporation) and subsidiaries as of 
30 September 2001 and 2000, and the related consolidated statements of income, cash flows and shareholders’ equity for each of the three years 
in the period ended 30 September 2001. These financial statements are the responsibility of the company’s management. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require that we plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes 
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We 
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Air Products and Chemicals, 
Inc. and subsidiaries as of 30 September 2001 and 2000, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the 
period ended 30 September 2001, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

Arthur Andersen LLP
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
26 October 2001
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The Financial Statements

Air Products and Chemicals, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Income Statements

Year ended 30 September (millions of dollars, except per share)       2003  2002  2001

Sales               $6,297.3  $5,401.2  $5,857.8

Costs and Expenses

Cost of sales                4,613.1  3,815.7  4,216.4

Selling and administrative             832.6  704.3  698.7

Research and development             121.1  120.3  121.8

Other (income) expense, net             (26.5 ) (37.1 ) (31.5 )

Global cost reduction plans, net             152.5  23.1  107.0

Operating Income               604.5  774.9  745.4

Income from equity affiliates, net of related expenses         84.4  76.2  81.2

Gain on sale of U.S. packaged gas business           —  55.7  —

Gain on divestiture of interest in cogeneration facilities         —  —  101.6

Loss on early retirement of debt             —  —  (75.8 )

Interest expense               123.5  122.3  191.2

Income Before Taxes and Minority Interest           565.4  784.5  661.2

Income tax provision               147.2  240.8  190.5

Minority interest in earnings of subsidiary companies          18.0  18.3  5.1 

Income Before Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change         400.2  525.4  465.6

Cumulative effect of accounting change           (2.9 ) —  —

Net Income               $    397.3  $    525.4  $   465.6

Weighted Average of Common Shares Outstanding (in millions)       219.7  217.2  214.8

Weighted Average of Common Shares Outstanding Assuming Dilution (in millions)   223.6  222.7  219.3

Basic Earnings per Common Share             

Income before cumulative effect of accounting change         $1.82  $2.42  $2.17

Cumulative effect of accounting change           (.01 ) —  —

Net Income               $1.81  $2.42  $2.17

Diluted Earnings per Common Share               

Income before cumulative effect of accounting change         $1.79  $2.36  $2.12

Cumulative effect of accounting change           (.01 ) —  —

Net Income               $1.78  $2.36  $2.12

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.      
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Air Products and Chemicals, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Balance Sheets

30 September (millions of dollars, except per share)           2003  2002

Assets

Current Assets
Cash and cash items                 $   76.2  $  253.7
Trade receivables, less allowances for doubtful accounts of $21.8 in 2003 and $12.0 in 2002     1,188.5  980.9
Inventories                 483.1  392.6
Contracts in progress, less progress billings             82.8  68.1
Other current assets                 237.3  214.0

Total Current Assets                 2,067.9  1,909.3

Investment in Net Assets of and Advances to Equity Affiliates         553.5  484.2
Plant and Equipment, at cost               11,723.2  10,879.8
Less accumulated depreciation               6,086.1  5,502.0 

Plant and Equipment, net               5,637.1  5,377.8

Goodwill                 725.8  431.1
Intangible Assets, net                 104.1  70.9

Other Noncurrent Assets               343.5  221.7

Total Assets                 $   9,431.9  $   8,495.0

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity

Current Liabilities
Payables and accrued liabilities               $   1,123.5  $   839.3
Accrued income taxes                 115.6  72.9
Short-term borrowings                 165.7  116.9
Current portion of long-term debt               176.4  227.1

Total Current Liabilities               1,581.2  1,256.2

Long-Term Debt                 2,168.6  2,041.0 
Deferred Income and Other Noncurrent Liabilities            1,005.9  827.4
Deferred Income Taxes               705.6  725.6

Total Liabilities                 5,461.3  4,850.2

Minority Interest in Subsidiary Companies             188.1  184.4

Shareholders’ Equity
Common stock (par value $1 per share; issued 2003 and 2002—249,455,584 shares)     249.4  249.4
Capital in excess of par value               493.9  437.1
Retained earnings                 4,516.6  4,312.8
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)             (567.2 ) (566.9 )
Treasury stock, at cost (2003—22,189,714 shares; 2002—22,236,196 shares)     (766.1 ) (767.8 )
Shares in trust (2003—5,842,391 shares; 2002—8,684,265 shares)         (144.1 ) (204.2 )

Total Shareholders’ Equity               3,782.5  3,460.4 

Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity             $   9,431.9  $   8,495.0 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.      
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.Air Products and Chemicals, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Year ended 30 September (millions of dollars)           2003  2002  2001

Operating Activities
Net income               $  397.3  $   525.4  $ 465.6
Adjustments to reconcile income to cash provided by operating activities:
 Depreciation               640.2  581.0  573.0
 Impairment of long-lived assets             91.7  3.7  23.8
 Deferred income taxes             26.8  65.2  39.0
 Loss on early retirement of debt             —  —  75.8
 Undistributed earnings of unconsolidated affiliates         (6.8 ) (44.4 ) (46.2 )
 Gain on sale of assets and investments           (8.4 ) (66.5 ) (104.7 )

 Other               6.5  44.1  12.7

Subtotal               1,147.3  1,108.5  1,039.0

Working capital changes, excluding effects of acquisitions and divestitures:
 Trade receivables               (88.0 ) (13.1 ) 63.9
 Inventories and contracts in progress           (53.2 ) 55.1  2.6
 Payables and accrued liabilities             13.3  (133.7 ) (99.4 )
 Other               16.6  47.1  77.9

Cash Provided by Operating Activities           1,036.0  1,063.9  1,084.0

Investing Activities
Additions to plant and equipment             (612.9 ) (627.6 ) (708.3 )
Acquisitions, less cash acquired             (529.6 ) (114.8 ) (59.2 )
Investment in and advances to unconsolidated affiliates         (6.1 ) (39.2 ) (38.3 )
Proceeds from sale of assets and investments           102.1  292.9  497.0
Other               (.1 ) (4.9 ) 31.1

Cash Used for Investing Activities           (1,046.6 ) (493.6 ) (277.7 )

Financing Activities
Long-term debt proceeds             162.8  61.3  121.0
Payments on long-term debt             (271.0 ) (203.6 ) (796.6 )
Net increase (decrease) in commercial paper and short-term borrowings       37.6  (170.9 ) 8.0
Dividends paid to shareholders             (188.6 ) (175.6 ) (165.2 )
Purchase of treasury stock              —  —  (87.2 )
Issuance of stock for options and award plans           76.5  103.8  87.1

Cash Used for Financing Activities           (182.7 ) (385.0 ) (832.9 )

Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash           15.8  2.2  (1.3 )

(Decrease) Increase in Cash and Cash Items           (177.5 ) 187.5  (27.9 )
Cash and Cash Items—Beginning of Year           253.7  66.2  94.1 

Cash and Cash Items—End of Year           $  76.2  $   253.7  $  66.2

Cash paid during the year for:
 Interest (net of amounts capitalized)           $  123.6  $ 124.1  $ 226.7
 Taxes (net of refunds)              79.1  136.5  62.6

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Air Products and Chemicals, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
 Number of        Accumulated 
 Common    Capital in    Other 
 Shares  Common  Excess of  Retained  Comprehensive  Treasury  Shares in
(millions of dollars, except per share) Outstanding  Stock  Par Value  Earnings  Income (Loss)  Stock  Trust  Total

Balance 30 September 2000 214,218,709  $249.4  $342.2  $3,667.9  $(407.8 ) $(681.6 ) $(348.8 ) $2,821.3
Comprehensive Income:
 Net income       465.6        465.6
 Net gain on derivatives, 
 net of income tax of $1.1         1.8      1.8
 Translation adjustments, net of 
 income tax of $14.1         (43.3 )     (43.3 ) 
 Net change in unrealized holding 
 gains, net of income tax of $3.8         6.3      6.3
 Change in minimum pension liability, 
 net of income tax of $5.8         (9.5 )     (9.5 )
Comprehensive Income               420.9
Issuance of shares in trust for 
stock options and award plans 3,362,762    25.0        75.7  100.7
Tax benefit of stock option and award plans     17.7          17.7
Cash dividends ($.78 per share)       (167.6 )       (167.6 ) 
Purchase of treasury shares (2,118,851 )         (87.2 )   (87.2 )
Balance 30 September 2001 215,462,620  $249.4  $384.9  $3,965.9  $(452.5 ) $(768.8 ) $(273.1 ) $3,105.8 
Comprehensive Income:
 Net income       525.4        525.4
 Net gain on derivatives, 
 net of income tax of $.3         1.1      1.1 
 Translation adjustments, net of 
 income tax of $29.8         50.1       50.1 
 Net change in unrealized holding 
 gains, net of income tax of $1.6         (7.4 )     (7.4 )
 Change in minimum pension liability, 
 net of income tax of $81.4         (158.2 )     (158.2 )
Comprehensive Income               411.0
Issuance of treasury shares and shares in 
trust for stock options and award plans 3,072,503    30.3      1.0  68.9  100.2 
Tax benefit of stock option and award plans     21.9          21.9 
Cash dividends ($.82 per share)       (178.5 )       (178.5 )
Balance 30 September 2002 218,535,123  $249.4  $437.1  $4,312.8  $(566.9 ) $(767.8 ) $(204.2 ) $3,460.4 

Comprehensive Income:
 Net income       397.3        397.3
 Net loss on derivatives, 
 net of income tax of $2.5         (5.1 )     (5.1 )
 Translation adjustments, net of 
 income tax of $60.3         146.8      146.8 
 Net change in unrealized holding 
 gains, net of income tax of $3.1         5.1      5.1
 Change in minimum pension liability, 
 net of income tax of $71.4         (147.1 )     (147.1 )
Comprehensive Income               397.0
Issuance of treasury shares and shares in 
trust for stock options and award plans 2,888,356    34.6      1.7  60.1  96.4
Tax benefit of stock option and award plans     22.2          22.2
Cash dividends ($.88 per share)       (193.5 )       (193.5 )

Balance 30 September 2003 221,423,479  $249.4  $493.9  $4,516.6  $(567.2 ) $(766.1 ) $(144.1 ) $3,782.5 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(millions of dollars, except per share)

1. Major Accounting Policies

Consolidation Principles

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of 
Air Products and Chemicals, Inc. and its majority-owned subsidiary 
companies (the company). The company consolidates all entities that 
it controls. The equity method of accounting is used when the com-
pany has a 20% to 50% interest in other companies and exercises 
significant influence. Under the equity method, original investments are 
recorded at cost and adjusted by the company’s share of undistributed 
earnings or losses of these companies.

Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States requires manage-
ment to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets 
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual 
results could differ from those estimates.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue from gases and chemicals sales is recognized as risk and 
title to the product transfers to the customer which occurs at the time 
shipment is made. Sales returns and allowances are not a business 
practice in the industry. Revenues from equipment sale contracts 
are recorded primarily using the percentage-of-completion method. 
Under this method, revenues from the sale of major equipment, such 
as natural gas liquefaction (LNG) heat exchangers and air separation 
units, are recognized primarily based on labor hours incurred to date 
compared with total estimated labor hours. Changes to total estimated 
labor hours and anticipated losses, if any, are recognized in the period 
determined. 

Amounts billed for shipping and handling fees are classified as sales in 
the consolidated income statements. Costs incurred for shipping and 
handling are classified as cost of sales.

Plant and Equipment

Plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. 
Construction costs, labor and applicable overhead related to installa-

tions are capitalized. Expenditures for additions and improvements that 
extend the lives or increase the capacity of plant assets are capitalized. 
The costs of maintenance and repairs of plant and equipment are 
charged to expense as incurred. 

Depreciation is recorded using the straight-line method, which deducts 
equal amounts of the cost of each asset from earnings every year over 
its expected useful life. The estimated useful lives primarily range from 
15 to 30 years (principally 30 years) for buildings and principally from 
15 to 20 years for gas generating and chemical facilities, machinery 
and equipment.  

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets are evaluated for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an 
asset may not be recoverable. The company assesses recoverability by 
comparing the carrying amount of the asset to estimated undiscounted 
future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If an asset 
is considered impaired, the impairment loss to be recognized is mea-
sured as the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
fair value. Long-lived assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower 
of carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell.

Capitalized Interest

As the company builds new plant and equipment, it includes in the cost 
of these assets a portion of the interest payments it makes during the 
year. The amount of capitalized interest was $4.2, $9.4 and $6.0 in 
2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Financial Instruments

The company addresses certain financial exposures through a con-
trolled program of risk management that includes the use of derivative 
financial instruments. The types of derivative financial instruments per-
mitted for such risk management programs are specified in policies set 
by management. The company currently enters into foreign exchange 
contracts, including forward, option combination and purchased 
option contracts, to reduce the effects of fluctuating foreign currency 
exchange rates. The company currently enters into interest rate swap 
contracts to reduce interest rate risks and to modify the interest rate 
characteristics of its outstanding debt. The company is also currently 
party to cross currency interest rate swap agreements. Major finan-
cial institutions are counterparties to these contracts. The company 
has established counterparty credit guidelines and only enters into 
transactions with financial institutions of investment grade or better. 
Management believes the risk of incurring losses related to credit risk 
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is remote, and any losses would be immaterial to consolidated financial 
results. 

The company recognizes derivatives on the balance sheet at fair value. 
On the date the derivative instrument is entered into, the company 
generally designates the derivative as either (1) a hedge of the fair 
value of a recognized asset or liability or of an unrecognized firm com-
mitment (fair value hedge), (2) a hedge of a forecasted transaction 
or of the variability of cash flows to be received or paid related to a 
recognized asset or liability (cash flow hedge), or (3) a hedge of a net 
investment in a foreign operation. Changes in the fair value of a deriva-
tive that is designated as and meets all the required criteria for a fair 
value hedge, along with the gain or loss on the hedged asset or liability 
that is attributable to the hedged risk, are recorded in current period 
earnings. Changes in the fair value of a derivative that is designated as 
and meets all the required criteria for a cash flow hedge are recorded 
in accumulated other comprehensive income and reclassified into 
earnings as the underlying hedged item affects earnings. Changes in 
the fair value of a derivative or foreign currency debt that is designated 
as and meets all the required criteria for a hedge of a net investment 
are recorded as translation adjustments in accumulated other com-
prehensive income. Changes in the fair value of a derivative that is not 
designated as a hedge are recorded immediately in earnings. 

The company formally documents all relationships between hedging 
instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk management objec-
tive and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. This pro-
cess includes relating all derivatives that are designated as fair value 
or cash flow hedges to specific assets and liabilities on the balance 
sheet or to specific firm commitments or forecasted transactions. The 
company also formally assesses, both at the inception of the hedge 
and on an ongoing basis, whether each derivative is highly effective in 
offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item. If it 
is determined that a derivative is not highly effective as a hedge, or if a 
derivative ceases to be a highly effective hedge, the company will dis-
continue hedge accounting with respect to that derivative prospectively.  

Foreign Currency

The value of the U.S. dollar rises and falls day to day on foreign cur-
rency exchanges. Since the company does business in many foreign 
countries, these fluctuations affect the company’s financial position 
and results of operations.

For most foreign operations, local currencies are considered the func-
tional currency. Generally, foreign subsidiaries translate their assets 
and liabilities into U.S. dollars at current exchange rates—that is, the 

rates in effect at the end of the fiscal period. The gains or losses that 
result from this process are shown in accumulated other comprehen-
sive income in the shareholders’ equity section of the balance sheet.

The revenue and expense accounts of foreign subsidiaries are trans-
lated into U.S. dollars at the average exchange rates that prevailed 
during the period. Therefore, the U.S. dollar value of these items on the 
income statement fluctuates from period to period, depending on the 
value of the dollar against foreign currencies. Some transactions are 
made in currencies different from an entity’s functional currency. Gains 
and losses from these foreign currency transactions are generally 
included in income as they occur. 

Environmental Expenditures

Accruals for investigatory, external legal costs and noncapital reme-
diation costs are recorded when it is probable that a liability has 
been incurred and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. 
Remediation costs are capitalized if the costs improve the company’s 
property as compared with the condition of the property when originally 
constructed or acquired, or if the costs prevent environmental con-
tamination from future operations. Costs to operate and maintain the 
capitalized facilities are expensed as incurred.

The measurement of environmental liabilities is based on an evalua-
tion of currently available facts with respect to each individual site and 
considers factors such as existing technology, presently enacted laws 
and regulations and prior experience in remediation of contaminated 
sites. These liabilities include costs related to other potentially respon-
sible parties to the extent that the company has reason to believe such 
parties will not fully pay their proportionate share. They also do not take 
into account any claims for recoveries from insurance and are not dis-
counted. As assessments and remediation progress at individual sites, 
these liabilities are reviewed periodically and adjusted to reflect addi-
tional technical and legal information that becomes available. Actual 
costs to be incurred at identified sites in future periods may vary from 
the estimates, given inherent uncertainties in evaluating environmental 
exposures. The accruals for environmental liabilities are reflected in the 
balance sheet, primarily as part of other noncurrent liabilities.

Stock-Based Compensation

The company has various stock-based compensation plans as 
described in Note 14. The company accounts for its stock option plans 
under the recognition and measurement principles of Accounting 
Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to 
Employees,” and related Interpretations. No compensation expense has 
been recognized in net income for stock options. The following table 
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illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share as if the 
company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of Statement 
of Financial Accounting Standard (SFAS) No. 123, “Accounting for 
Stock-Based Compensation,” to its stock option plans. 

     2003  2002  2001

Net Income, As Reported   $ 397.3  $525.4  $465.6 

Deduct total stock option employee    
compensation expense determined 
under fair value-based method,
net of related tax effects     (37.9 ) (40.9 ) (30.1 )

Pro Forma Net Income    $359.4  $484.5  $435.5

Basic Earnings per Share
 As reported     $  1.81  $ 2.42  $   2.17
 Pro forma     1.64  2.23  2.03

Diluted Earnings per Share
 As reported     $  1.78  $ 2.36  $   2.12
 Pro forma     1.61  2.18  2.00

For disclosure purposes, the fair value of each stock option granted is 
estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing 
model with the following weighted average assumptions:

     2003  2002  2001

Dividend yield       2.0 % 2.0 % 2.1 %

Expected volatility       30.6 % 30.1 % 29.2 %

Risk-free interest rate       3.6 % 4.7 % 5.9 %

Expected life (years)       7.9  7.8  7.6

The Black-Scholes option-pricing model was developed for use in esti-
mating the fair value of traded options that have no vesting restrictions 
and are fully transferable. In addition, option-pricing models require 
the input of subjective assumptions, including the expected stock price 
volatility. Because the company’s options have characteristics different 
from those of traded options, in the opinion of management, the exist-
ing models do not necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the 
fair value of its options.

The weighted average fair value of options granted as calculated by the 
Black-Scholes option-pricing model was $13.71 per share in 2003, 
$12.90 per share in 2002 and $12.82 per share in 2001.

Income Taxes

The company accounts for income taxes under the liability method. 
Under this method, deferred tax liabilities and assets are recognized for 
the tax effects of temporary differences between the financial reporting 

and tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates. A prin-
cipal temporary difference results from the excess of tax depreciation 
over book depreciation because accelerated methods of depreciation 
and shorter useful lives are used for income tax purposes. The cumula-
tive impact of a change in tax rates or regulations is included in income 
tax expense in the period that includes the enactment date.

Cash and Cash Items

Cash and cash items include cash, time deposits and certificates of 
deposit acquired with an original maturity of three months or less.

Allowances for Doubtful Accounts

The allowances for doubtful accounts represent estimated uncollectible 
receivables associated with potential customer defaults on contractual 
obligations, usually due to customers’ potential insolvency. The allow-
ances include amounts for certain customers where a risk of default 
has been specifically identified. In addition, the allowances include 
a provision for customer defaults on a general formula basis when it 
is determined the risk of some default is probable and estimable but 
cannot yet be associated with specific customers. The assessment of 
the likelihood of customer defaults is based on various factors, includ-
ing the length of time the receivables are past due, historical experi-
ence and existing economic conditions.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. The cost of chem-
ical inventories and some gas and equipment inventories in the United 
States is determined using the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method. The cost 
of other inventories is principally determined using the first-in, first-out 
(FIFO) method.

As of 30 September 2003, the company changed its method of 
accounting for LIFO inventory by reducing the number of LIFO inven-
tory pools from ten pools to three pools. This newly adopted account-
ing principle is preferable as each pool will include items with similar 
economic activity. The adoption of this new accounting principle did not 
have a material effect on the company’s financial statements.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

When a company is acquired, the difference between the fair value 
of its net assets, including identified intangibles, and the purchase 
price is goodwill. Goodwill is recorded as a noncurrent asset on the 
balance sheet. 
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In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued 
SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.”  SFAS No. 142 
addresses financial accounting and reporting for acquired goodwill and 
intangible assets. The Statement provides that goodwill and intangible 
assets with indefinite lives are no longer amortized on a recurring basis 
but instead are subject to impairment testing at least annually. The 
company adopted SFAS No. 142 on 1 October 2001. Accordingly, the 
company no longer amortizes goodwill, including goodwill associated 
with investments in equity affiliates. In accordance with the provisions 
of SFAS No. 142, the company performed impairment tests on goodwill 
which indicated no impairment of goodwill. Disclosures required by 
SFAS No. 142 are presented in Note 10.

Prior to 1 October 2001, the company amortized goodwill into income 
over periods not exceeding 40 years.

Intangible assets with determinable lives primarily consist of customer 
relationships, noncompete covenants and purchased patents and 
technology. There were no acquired intangible assets with indefinite 
lives. The cost of intangible assets with determinable lives is amortized 
on a straight-line basis over the estimated period of economic benefit. 
Customer relationships are generally amortized over periods of three 
to ten years. Noncompete covenants are generally amortized over 
periods of three to five years based on contractual terms. Purchased 
patents and technology and other intangibles are amortized based on 
contractual terms, ranging from eight to twenty years. Amortizable lives 
are adjusted whenever there is a change in the estimated period of 
economic benefit. The company reviews long-lived assets, including 
intangible assets with determinable lives, for impairment whenever 
events and circumstances indicate the carrying amount of the assets 
may not be recoverable.

Retirement-Related Benefits

The cost of retiree benefits is recognized over the employees’ service 
period. The company’s defined benefit pension plans are accounted 
for in accordance with SFAS No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting for 
Pensions.” Nonpension postretirement benefits are accounted 
for in accordance with SFAS No. 106, “Employers’ Accounting for 
Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions.” These Statements 
require the use of actuarial methods and assumptions in the valuation 
of benefit obligations and the performance of plan assets. Differences 
between actual and expected results or changes in the value of obli-
gations and plan assets are not recognized as they occur but rather, 
systematically and gradually over subsequent periods. Refer to Note 17 
for disclosures related to the company’s pension and other postretire-
ment benefits.

Shares in Trust

The company has established a trust, funded with treasury stock, 
to provide for a portion of future payments to employees under the 
company’s existing compensation and benefit programs. Shares issued 
to the trust were valued at market price on the date of contribution and 
reflected as a reduction of shareholders’ equity in the balance sheet. 
As shares are transferred from the trust to fund compensation and 
benefit obligations, this equity account is reduced based on the original 
cost of shares to the trust; the satisfaction of liabilities is based on the 
fair value of shares transferred; and the difference between the fair 
value of shares transferred and the original cost of shares to the trust 
is charged or credited to capital in excess of par value.

Reclassifications

The company changed its reporting for the global cost reduction plans 
to present the costs on a separate income statement line item within 
operating income. In 2003, the company recorded a net global cost 
reduction plan expense of $152.5, which was previously reflected 
in the income statement as follows: cost of sales $20.6, selling and 
administrative $34.1, research and development $2.1 and other 
expense $95.7. In 2002, the company recorded a net global cost 
reduction plan expense of $23.1, which was previously reflected in the 
income statement as follows: cost of sales $12.0, selling and admin-
istrative $10.8, research and development $.3. In 2001, the company 
recorded a net global cost reduction plan expense of $107.0, which 
was previously reflected in the income statement as follows: cost of 
sales $26.9, selling and administrative $53.4, research and develop-
ment $.7 and other expense of $26.0.

As of 1 October 2001, the company changed its reporting of 
demurrage/cylinder income to include it in revenues. Previously, it was 
included as an offset to cost of sales. The consolidated income state-
ments of the prior periods were adjusted to reflect this reclassification.

In April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 145, “Rescission of FASB 
Statements No. 4, 44 and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement 
No. 13 and Technical Corrections.” This Statement rescinds SFAS 
No. 4, “Reporting Gains and Losses from Extinguishment of Debt,” and 
SFAS No. 64, “Extinguishments of Debt Made to Satisfy Sinking-Fund 
Requirements.” The Statement requires gains and losses from debt 
extinguishments that are used as part of the company’s risk manage-
ment strategy to be classified as income from operations rather than 
as extraordinary items, net of tax. The company adopted this Statement 
as of 1 July 2002. The impact on the company was to reclassify the 
extraordinary item recorded in the fourth quarter of 2001 to income 
from continuing operations.
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2. New Accounting Standards

Standards Adopted 2003

The company adopted SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement 
Obligations,” on 1 October 2002. The Statement requires that the fair 
value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation be recognized 
in the period in which it is incurred. The liability is measured at dis-
counted fair value and is adjusted to its present value in subsequent 
periods as accretion expense is recorded. The corresponding asset 
retirement costs are capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the 
related long-lived asset and depreciated over the asset’s useful life. 
The company’s asset retirement obligations are primarily associated 
with Gases on-site long-term supply contracts under which the com-
pany has built a facility on land leased from the customer and is 
obligated to remove the facility at the end of the contract term. At 
1 October 2002, the company recognized transition amounts for exist-
ing asset retirement obligation liabilities, associated capitalizable costs 
and accumulated depreciation. An after-tax transition charge of $2.9 
was recorded as the cumulative effect of an accounting change. The 
ongoing expense on an annual basis resulting from the initial adoption 
of SFAS No. 143 is approximately $1.

In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the 
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” The Statement super-
sedes SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived 
Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of.” The Statement 
also supersedes APB Opinion No. 30 provisions related to the account-
ing and reporting for the disposal of a segment of a business. This 
Statement establishes a single accounting model, based on the frame-
work established in SFAS No. 121, for long-lived assets to be disposed 
of by sale. The Statement retains most of the requirements in SFAS 
No. 121 related to the recognition of impairment of long-lived assets to 
be held and used. Additionally, SFAS No. 144 broadens the definition 
of businesses that qualify for reporting as discontinued operations and 
changes the timing of recognizing losses on such operations. The com-
pany adopted this Statement as of 1 October 2002, with no material 
effect on the company’s financial statements. 

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs 
Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities.” This Statement addresses 
the accounting for costs associated with disposal activities covered 
by SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of 
Long-Lived Assets,” and with exit (restructuring) activities previously 
covered by Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue No. 94-3, “Liability 

Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs 
to Exit an Activity.” This Statement nullifies EITF Issue No. 94-3 in its 
entirety and requires that a liability for all costs be recognized when 
the liability is incurred. Generally, the ability to accrue for termination 
benefits at the communication date of a plan in the form of a one-time 
benefit arrangement is limited. The cost of the termination benefits 
would be recognized over the future service period of the employees. 
This Statement does not change the accounting for termination ben-
efits under ongoing benefit arrangements such as those included in 
the company’s global cost reduction plans discussed in Note 3. The 
company adopted SFAS No. 146 as of 1 October 2002. The adoption 
of this Statement did not have an impact on the company’s financial 
statements.

In November 2002, the FASB published Interpretation No. 45, 
“Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, 
Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others.” The 
Interpretation expands on the disclosure requirements to be made in 
interim and annual financial statements. The company has included the 
required disclosures in Note 18. The Interpretation also requires that a 
liability measured at fair value be recognized for guarantees even if the 
probability of payment on the guarantee is remote. The recognition pro-
visions applied on a prospective basis for guarantees issued or modi-
fied after 31 December 2002. The company has not issued or modified 
any guarantees subsequent to 31 December 2002.

In November 2002, the EITF reached a consensus on Issue No. 00-21, 
“Accounting for Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables.” 
This Issue addresses the appropriate accounting by vendors for 
arrangements that will result in the delivery of multiple products, ser-
vices and/or rights to assets that could occur over a period of time. The 
application of EITF Issue No. 00-21 did not have a material effect on 
the company’s financial statements.

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, “Accounting 
for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure.” SFAS 
No. 148 amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123 to 
require more prominent and frequent disclosures in financial state-
ments. Also, SFAS No. 148 provides alternative methods of transition 
for a voluntary change to the fair value-based method of accounting for 
stock-based employee compensation. The company has included the 
disclosures prescribed by SFAS No. 148 in Note 1. The company does 
not intend to change its accounting method for stock-based compen-
sation until a new uniform accounting standard is issued.
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In January 2003, the FASB published Interpretation No. 46, 
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities.” This Interpretation clarifies 
the application of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51, “Consolidated 
Financial Statements,” to certain entities in which equity investors do 
not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not 
have sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its activities with-
out additional subordinated financial support from other parties. The 
Interpretation establishes standards under which a Variable Interest 
Entity should be consolidated by the primary beneficiary. The company 
does not have an interest in a Variable Interest Entity.

In April 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 149, “Amendment of 
Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.” In 
May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, “Accounting for Certain 
Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and 
Equity.” The adoption of these Statements did not have a material 
effect on the company’s financial statements.

In May 2003, the FASB ratified the EITF consensus on Issue 
No. 01-08, “Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease.” 
The EITF consensus applied prospectively to new or modified arrange-
ments beginning after 30 June 2003. The Issue addresses how to 
determine whether an arrangement contains a lease that is within 
the scope of SFAS No. 13, “Accounting for Leases.” Under the EITF 
consensus, certain contracts within the company’s Gases segment 
associated with on-site tonnage facilities servicing one customer 
may potentially be considered leases. In cases where operating-lease 
treatment is necessary, there would be no change to the company’s 
financial results. In cases where capital-lease treatment is necessary, 
the timing of revenue and expense recognition would be impacted. 
Revenue would be recognized immediately for the sale of equipment 
component of a contract (as compared to the current method of 
revenue recognition over the life of the arrangement). A portion of rev-
enues formerly reported as sales would be reflected as interest income 
resulting from the lease receivable. The application of this EITF consen-
sus did not have a material effect on the financial statements in 2003. 
The impact of the EITF consensus on the company’s financial state-
ments beyond 2003 is dependent upon the contracts executed and 
potential changes in business practices and contractual arrangements.

Standards Adopted 2002

As discussed in Note 1, the company adopted SFAS No. 142 and SFAS 
No. 145 during 2002.

3. Global Cost Reduction Plans

2003 Plan

In 2003, the company recorded an expense of $152.7 for a global cost 
reduction plan (2003 Plan). This expense included $56.8 for severance 
and pension-related benefits and $95.9 for asset disposals and facility 
closures in the Gases and Chemicals segments.

During the third quarter of 2003, the company completed a capacity 
utilization analysis in several businesses in the Gases segment. 
To reduce capacity and costs, several facilities ceased operation as of 
30 June 2003. An expense of $37.6 was recognized for the closure 
of these facilities, net of expected recovery from disposal. A decision 
was made to terminate several incomplete capacity expansion projects. 
An expense of $13.0 was recognized for the cost of terminating these 
projects, net of expected recovery from disposal and redeployment. 
An expense of $3.6 was also recognized for the planned sale of two 
real estate properties and the termination of several leases for small 
facilities. These expenses were principally in the North American mer-
chant and tonnage businesses with a modest amount in the Electronics 
business.

The rationalization of excess capacity in certain products resulted in a 
decision to exit certain Chemical Intermediates operations. Late in the 
quarter ended 30 June 2003, the company decided to pursue the sale 
of its European methylamines and derivatives business. The company 
expects to complete the sale by 30 June 2004. Expected proceeds 
from the sale were determined and a loss was recognized for the dif-
ference between the carrying value of the assets and the expected 
net proceeds from the sale. Additional expenses for the closure of the 
methanol and ammonia plants in Pensacola, Florida, which made prod-
ucts for internal consumption, were also recognized. The total expense 
for these actions was $41.7.

In addition to the capacity reduction initiatives, the company continues 
to implement cost reduction and productivity-related efforts. The dives-
titures, the capacity reductions and the cost control initiatives will result 
in the elimination of 461 positions from the company. The company will 
complete the 2003 Plan by 30 June 2004. Approximately 30% of the 
position reductions relates to capacity rationalization and divestitures. 
An additional 40% relates to ongoing productivity efforts and balanc-
ing engineering resources with project activity and the remaining 30% 
relates to a reduction in the number of management positions.
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The following table presents the detail of expenses by segment for the 
global cost reduction plan recorded in 2003:

   Severance  Pension  Other (A) Total

Gases   $27.1  $10.9  $54.2  $ 92.2

Chemicals   14.4  2.0  41.7  58.1 

Equipment   2.2  .2  —  2.4 

Provision for 2003 Plan $43.7  $13.1  $95.9  $152.7

Reversal of 2002 Plan   (.2 ) —  —  (.2 )

Net Expense in 2003   $43.5  $13.1  $95.9  $152.5
(A) Asset impairments and related expenses are included in the other category.

2002 Plan

In 2002, the company recorded an expense of $30.8 for a global cost 
reduction plan (2002 Plan), including U.S. packaged gas divestiture-
related reductions. This expense included $27.1 for severance and 
pension-related benefits and $3.7 for asset impairments related to the 
planned sale or closure of two small chemical facilities. The 2002 Plan 
included 333 position eliminations in the areas of manufacturing, engi-
neering, distribution and overheads. The 2002 Plan was completed as 
expected in March 2003. 

The following table presents the detail of expenses by segment for the 
global cost reduction plan recorded in 2002:

   Severance  Pension  Other  (A) Total

Gases   $15.6  $10.6  $  —  $26.2

Chemicals   .8  .1  3.7  4.6 

Provision for 2002 Plan $16.4  $10.7  $3.7  $30.8

Reversal of 2001 Plan   (7.1 ) —  (.6 ) (7.7 )

Net Expense in 2002   $ 9.3  $10.7  $3.1  $23.1
(A) Asset impairments and related expenses are included in the other category.

2001 Plan

In 2001, the company recorded an expense of $109.2 for a global cost 
reduction plan (2001 Plan). This expense included $79.6 for severance 
benefits and pension plan settlements and $29.6 for asset impair-
ments and related restructuring charges. The 2001 Plan included 670 
position eliminations in the areas of manufacturing, engineering, dis-
tribution and overheads. The company decided to divest several small 
facilities, which required a write-down of the net carrying value to the 
estimated net realizable value. The 2001 Plan was completed in 2002, 
with 644 positions eliminated and total expenses of $101.5 incurred. 
The balance of the accrual of $7.7 was reversed into income during 
2002.

The following table presents the detail of expenses by segment for the 
global cost reduction plan recorded in 2001:

   Severance  Pension  Other (A) Total

Gases   $47.0  $10.3  $11.8  $ 69.1

Chemicals   9.4  1.4  17.8  28.6 

Equipment   1.2  .8  —  2.0

Corporate   —  9.5  —  9.5 

Provision for 2001 Plan $57.6  $22.0  $29.6  $109.2

Reversal of 2000 Plan   (2.2 ) —  —  (2.2 )

Net Expense in 2001   $55.4  $22.0  $29.6  $107.0
(A) Asset impairments and related expenses are included in the other category.

Plan Accrual

The following table summarizes changes to the carrying amount of the 
accrual for global cost reduction plans:

Balance as of   Severance  Pension  Other (A) Total

30 September 2000   $23.5  $     —  $ —  $ 23.5

Provision   57.6  22.0  29.6  109.2

Noncash expenses   —   (22.0 ) (23.8 ) (45.8 )

Cash expenditures   (29.8 ) —  (4.3 ) (34.1 )

Reverse 2000 Plan balance  (2.2 ) —  —  (2.2 )

30 September 2001   $49.1  $ —  $ 1.5  $ 50.6

Provision   16.4  10.7  3.7  30.8

Noncash expenses   —  (10.7 ) (3.7 ) (14.4 )

Cash expenditures   (51.6 ) —  (.9 ) (52.5 )

Reverse 2001 Plan balance  (7.1 ) —  (.6 ) (7.7 )

30 September 2002   $ 6.8  $ —  $ —  $  6.8

Provision   43.7  13.1  95.9  152.7

Noncash expenses   —  (13.1 ) (90.1 ) (103.2 )

Cash expenditures   (11.7 ) —  (1.7 ) (13.4 )

Reverse 2002 Plan balance  (.2 ) —  —  (.2 )

30 September 2003   $38.6  $ —  $ 4.1  $ 42.7 
(A) Asset impairments and related expenses are included in the other category.

4. Acquisitions 
Acquisitions in 2003, totaling $529.6, included Ashland’s Electronic 
Chemicals business, American Homecare Supply, LLC (AHS), addi-
tional small homecare businesses, and Sanwa Chemical Industry Co., 
Ltd. Acquisitions in 2002, totaling $114.8, principally included the 
purchase of an additional 22% of the outstanding shares of San Fu 
Gas Company, Ltd. (San Fu). The acquisitions in 2003 and the San Fu 
acquisition in 2002 contributed $411.9 and $64.9 to sales and 
operating income, respectively, for the twelve months ended 
30 September 2003.
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Ashland’s Electronic Chemicals Business

On 29 August 2003, the company acquired the Electronic Chemicals 
business of Ashland Specialty Chemical Company, a division of Ashland 
Inc., in a cash transaction valued at $293.2. Goodwill recognized in 
this transaction amounted to $89.6, of which $21.3 is deductible 
for tax purposes. Identified intangibles included in this transaction 
amounted to $27.1. Ashland’s Electronic Chemicals business is a 
leading global supplier of ultrapure specialty chemicals and services 
used by the electronics industry to make semiconductor devices. With 
annual revenues of approximately $200, the Electronic Chemicals busi-
ness of Ashland has a global network of sales and marketing offices in 
North America, Europe and Asia.

American Homecare Supply, LLC (AHS)

In October 2002, the company acquired AHS, a homecare market 
leader throughout the northeastern United States, for $165.8. 
Subsequently, AHS has acquired additional small homecare businesses 
for $52.3 and has been renamed Air Products Healthcare. Goodwill 
recognized in these transactions amounted to $152.4, of which 
$102.1 is deductible for tax purposes. Identified intangibles included in 
these transactions amounted to $20.7. These acquisitions contributed 
$155.9 to sales in 2003. Prior to these acquisitions, the company and 
its affiliates had a homecare position serving approximately 180,000 
patients. With these acquisitions, the company and its affiliates will 
provide home medical services to more than 320,000 patients in 14 
countries, a significant step in the company’s strategy to be a global 
healthcare provider. 

San Fu Gas Company, Ltd. (San Fu)

In July 2002, the company purchased an additional 22% of the 
outstanding shares of San Fu, increasing the company’s ownership 
interest from 48% to 70%. Since 1987, the company has had a joint 
venture ownership of San Fu, the largest industrial gas company in 
Taiwan. San Fu is a full-service industrial gas and chemical company 
with a broad product portfolio, supplying specialty gases, electronic 
piping and equipment, liquid bulk gases, on-site/pipeline gases and 
chemicals to the Taiwan marketplace. This investment is consistent 
with the company’s strategy of investing in growth markets (Asia) 
and industries (electronics) and will provide a stronger foundation for 
growth in both Taiwan and China. 

As of 30 June 2002, the company accounted for its investment in 
San Fu using the equity method. In July 2002, the company obtained 

control through the acquisition of an additional 22% of the outstanding 
shares and began to consolidate this investment. San Fu had revenues 
of approximately $215 for the twelve months ended 30 September 
2002. Goodwill recognized in this transaction amounted to $51.4, 
which was not deductible for tax purposes. Identified intangibles 
included in this transaction amounted to $19.5. As part of this transac-
tion, put options have been issued which give other shareholders the 
right to sell San Fu stock to the company at market price when exer-
cised. The options are effective from January 2005 through January 
2015 and allow for the sale of all stock owned by other shareholders to 
the company.  

5. Divestitures

Sale of Canadian Packaged Gas Business

On 1 April 2003, the company completed the sale of the majority of 
its Canadian packaged gas business to the BOC Group for cash pro-
ceeds of $41.2.

Sale of U.S. Packaged Gas Business

On 28 February 2002, the company completed the sale of the majority 
of its U.S. packaged gas business, excluding the electronic gases and 
magnetic resonance imaging-related helium operations, to Airgas, Inc. 
This sale included approximately 100 facilities in 30 states associ-
ated with the filling and distribution of cylinders, liquid dewars, tube 
trailers and other containers of industrial gases and nonelectronic 
specialty gases and the retail selling of welding hard goods, including 
customer service centers, warehouses and other related assets. The 
company also sold its packaged gas operations in the Carolinas and 
in Southern Virginia to National Welders Supply Company, Inc., a joint 
venture between Airgas and the Turner family of Charlotte, N.C. The 
assets sold generated approximately $240 in revenues in 2001, with 
a modest contribution to operating income. For the five months ended 
28 February 2002, the revenues were approximately $100, also with 
a modest contribution to operating income. These facilities employed 
1,200 people. The cash proceeds from these transactions were 
$254.5. The results for 2002 included a gain of $55.7.

Sale of Interest in Cogeneration Facilities

In the fourth quarter of 2001, the company sold its 50% interest in two 
cogeneration facilities located in Cambria County, Pennsylvania and 
Orlando, Florida. The Cambria facility uses a coal by-product to gener-
ate electricity, with power generation capability of 88 megawatts. 
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The Orlando facility is a natural gas-fired power plant with power 
generation capability of 115 megawatts. These investments contrib-
uted approximately $11 to net income in 2001. The results for 2001 
included a gain of $101.6.

6. Financial Instruments

Currency Risk Management

The company does business in many foreign countries. Therefore, 
its earnings, cash flows and financial position are exposed to foreign 
currency risk from foreign currency denominated transactions and net 
investments in foreign operations. 

It is the policy of the company to minimize its cash flow exposure to 
adverse changes in currency and exchange rates. This is accomplished 
by identifying and evaluating the risk that the company’s cash flows will 
decline in value due to changes in exchange rates, and by determining 
the appropriate strategies necessary to manage such exposures. The 
company’s objective is to maintain economically balanced currency risk 
management strategies that provide adequate downside protection. 

The company enters into a variety of foreign exchange contracts, 
including forward, option combination and purchased option contracts, 
to hedge its exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange 
rates. These agreements generally involve the exchange of one cur-
rency for a second currency at some future date. 

The company enters into foreign exchange contracts, including for-
ward, option combination and purchased option contracts, to reduce 
the cash flow exposure to foreign currency fluctuations associated with 
certain monetary assets and liabilities, as well as highly anticipated 
cash flows and certain firm commitments. Examples of such exposures 
are the purchase of plant and equipment and export sales transac-
tions. Forward exchange contracts are also used to hedge the value of 
investments in certain foreign subsidiaries and affiliates by creating a 
liability in a currency in which the company has a net equity position. 
The company also uses foreign currency denominated debt to hedge 
certain net investments in foreign operations.  

Certain forward exchange contracts entered into by the company are 
not designated as hedging instruments. Contracts used to hedge the 
exposure to foreign currency fluctuations associated with certain mon-
etary assets and liabilities are not designated as hedging instruments, 
and changes in the fair value of these items are recorded in earnings 
to offset the foreign exchange gains and losses of the monetary assets 
and liabilities. Other forward exchange contracts may be used to eco-

nomically hedge foreign currency exposures that are not designated as 
hedging instruments due to the immaterial amount of the underlying 
hedged exposures. Changes in the fair value of these contracts are 
also recorded in earnings.

Debt Portfolio Management

It is the policy of the company to identify on a continuing basis the 
need for debt capital and evaluate the financial risks inherent in fund-
ing the company with debt capital. Reflecting the result of this ongoing 
review, the debt portfolio and hedging program of the company is 
managed with the objectives and intent to (1) reduce funding risk with 
respect to borrowings made or to be made by the company to preserve 
the company’s access to debt capital and provide debt capital as 
required for funding and liquidity purposes, and (2) reduce the aggre-
gate interest rate risk of the debt portfolio in accordance with certain 
debt management parameters. 

The company enters into interest rate swap agreements to change the 
fixed/variable interest rate mix of its debt portfolio in order to maintain 
the percentage of fixed- and variable-rate debt within the parameters 
set by management. In accordance with these parameters, the agree-
ments are used to reduce interest rate risks and costs inherent in the 
company’s debt portfolio. The notional amount of these agreements 
is equal to or less than the designated debt instrument being hedged. 
The variable rate bases of the swap instruments and the debt to which 
they are designated are the same. It is the company’s policy not to 
enter into any interest rate swap contracts which lever a move in inter-
est rates on a greater than one-to-one basis. 

The company is also party to cross currency interest rate swap con-
tracts. These contracts entail both the exchange of fixed- and floating-
rate interest payments periodically over the life of the agreement and 
the exchange of one currency for another currency at inception and at 
a specified future date. These contracts effectively convert the currency 
denomination of a debt instrument into another currency in which the 
company has a net equity position while changing the interest rate 
characteristics of the instrument. The contracts are used to hedge 
intercompany and third-party borrowing transactions and certain net 
investments in foreign operations.

Fair Value Hedges

For the years ended 30 September 2003 and 2002, there was no 
material gain or loss recognized in earnings resulting from hedge in-
effectiveness or from excluding a portion of derivative instruments’ 
gain or loss from the assessment of hedge effectiveness related to 
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derivatives designated as fair value hedges. Also, the amount recog-
nized in earnings in 2003 and 2002 as a result of a hedged firm com-
mitment no longer qualifying as a fair value hedge was not material. 

Cash Flow Hedges

For the years ended 30 September 2003 and 2002, there was no 
material gain or loss recognized in earnings resulting from hedge in-
effectiveness or from excluding a portion of derivative instruments’ 
gain or loss from the assessment of hedge effectiveness related to 
derivatives designated as cash flow hedges. 

The amount reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive 
income into earnings as a result of the discontinuance of foreign cur-
rency cash flow hedges due to the probability of the original forecasted 
transactions not occurring by the original specified time period was 
not material in 2003 and 2002. The amount in other comprehensive 
income expected to be reclassified into earnings in 2004 is also not 
material.

As of 30 September 2003, the maximum length of time over which the 
company is hedging its exposure to the variability in future cash flows 
for forecasted transactions is three years. 

Hedges of Net Investments in Foreign Operations

For the years ended 30 September 2003 and 2002, $178.2 and 
$68.2, respectively, of net losses related to hedges of net investments 
in foreign operations were included in accumulated other comprehen-
sive income within shareholders’ equity.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments  

Summarized below are the carrying values and fair values of the com-
pany’s financial instruments as of 30 September 2003 and 2002.

   2003  2003  2002  2002
   Carrying  Fair  Carrying  Fair
30 September   Value  Value  Value  Value

Assets (Liabilities)

Other investments   $   63.4  $  63.4  $   50.1  $   50.1

Currency option contracts .1  .1  1.1  1.1

Interest rate swap 
agreements   21.3  21.3  20.6  20.6

Cross currency interest
rate swap contracts   (9.5 ) (9.5 ) 6.2  6.2

Forward exchange 
contracts   (66.1 ) (66.1 ) (3.5 ) (3.5 )

Long-term debt, including 
current portion   (2,345.0 ) (2,487.9 ) (2,268.1 ) (2,387.4 )

The fair values of the company’s debt, interest rate swap agreements, 
cross currency interest rate swap contracts, forward exchange con-
tracts, option combination contracts and purchased foreign currency 
options are based on estimates using standard pricing models that 
take into account the present value of future cash flows as of the 
balance sheet date. The computation of the fair values of these instru-
ments is generally performed by the company. 

The fair value of other investments is based principally on quoted 
market prices. The carrying amounts reported in the balance sheet 
for cash and cash items, accounts receivable, payables and accrued 
liabilities, accrued income taxes and short-term borrowings approxi-
mate fair value due to the short-term nature of these instruments. 
Accordingly, these items have been excluded from the above table.

7. Inventories
The components of inventories are as follows:

30 September        2003  2002

Inventories at FIFO Cost

Finished goods       $327.2  $276.8 

Work in process       26.8  35.7

Raw materials and supplies     165.8  107.9

       519.8  420.4 

Less excess of FIFO cost over LIFO cost   (36.7 ) (27.8 )

       $483.1  $392.6

Inventories valued using the LIFO method comprised 49.3% and 
46.1% of consolidated inventories before LIFO adjustment at 
30 September 2003 and 2002, respectively. Liquidation of prior years’ 
LIFO inventory layers in 2003, 2002 and 2001 did not materially affect 
results of operations in any of these years.

FIFO cost approximates replacement cost. The company’s inventories 
have a high turnover, and as a result there is little difference between 
the original cost of an item and its current replacement cost.

As discussed in Note 1, the company changed its method of account-
ing for LIFO inventory by reducing the number of LIFO inventory pools. 
The adoption of this new accounting principle did not have a material 
effect on the company’s financial statements.
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8. Summarized Financial Information of 
Equity Affiliates
The following table presents summarized financial information on a 
combined 100% basis of the principal companies accounted for by 
the equity method. Amounts presented include the accounts of the 
following equity affiliates: Air Products South Africa (50%); Bangkok 
Cogeneration Company Limited (48.8%); Bangkok Industrial Gases 
Company Ltd. (50.6%); Daido Air Products Electronics, Inc. (49%); 
DuPont Air Products Nanomaterials, LLC (50%); Europoort Utility 
Partners V.O.F. (50%); Helap S.A. (50%); INFRA Group (40%); INOX 
Air Products Limited (INOX) (49.4%); Island Pipeline Gas (33%); Pure 
Air on the Lake, L.P. (50%); Sapio Produzione Idrogeno Ossigeno 
S.r.L. (49%); SembCorp Air Products (HyCo) Pte. Ltd. (40%); Stockton 
CoGen Company (50%); Tyczka Industrie-Gases GmbH (50%); Wacker 
Polymer Systems GmbH & CoKG (20%); and principally other industrial 
gas producers. In the fourth quarter of 2002, the company obtained 
control of San Fu after increasing its ownership interest from 48% to 
70%. Amounts presented include the accounts of San Fu for the peri-
ods during which the equity method was applied.

       2003  2002

Current assets       $   732.7  $  732.6

Noncurrent assets       1,449.3  1,148.7 

Current liabilities       537.5  572.5 

Noncurrent liabilities       526.3  452.2 

Net sales       1,617.8  1,608.8 

Sales less cost of sales       601.9  543.0 

Net income       171.7  196.3 

The company’s share of income of all equity affiliates for 2003, 2002 
and 2001 was $70.9, $86.4 and $91.1, respectively. These amounts 
exclude $9.2, $12.5 and $9.9 of related net expenses incurred by 
the company. Additionally, in 2003, the company recorded favorable 
adjustments of $22.7 related to prior period divestitures. Dividends 
received from equity affiliates were $64.1, $42.0 and $44.9 in 2003, 
2002 and 2001, respectively.

The investment in net assets of and advances to equity affiliates as of 
30 September 2003 and 2002 included investment in foreign affiliates 
of $518.3 and $449.5, respectively.

As of 30 September 2003 and 2002, the amount of investment in 
companies accounted for by the equity method included goodwill in the 
amount of $67.7 and $69.6, respectively. Goodwill is no longer amor-
tized, as discussed in Note 1.

9. Plant and Equipment
The major classes of plant and equipment, at cost, are as follows:         

30 September       2003  2002

Land       $  164.8  $   163.3

Buildings       800.8  698.6 

Gas generating and chemical facilities,
machinery and equipment     10,386.8  9,616.3 

Construction in progress       370.8  401.6 

       $11,723.2  $10,879.8

10. Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Changes to the carrying amount of consolidated goodwill by segment 
are as follows:

Balance as of   Gases  Chemicals  Equipment  Total

30 September 2001   $289.2  $87.1  $8.4  $384.7

Acquisitions and adjustments 64.1  —  —  64.1

Goodwill related to the sale of
U.S. packaged gas business (36.3 ) —  —  (36.3 )

Currency translation and other 15.1  2.5  1.0  18.6 

30 September 2002   $332.1  $89.6  $9.4  $431.1

Acquisitions and adjustments 251.3  2.7  —  254.0

Goodwill related to the sale 
of Canadian packaged gas 
business   (9.7 ) —  —  (9.7 )

Currency translation and other 45.5  4.6  .3  50.4

30 September 2003   $619.2  $96.9  $9.7  $725.8

In 2003, the increase in goodwill was principally due to the acquisitions 
of AHS and other U.S. homecare businesses, and Ashland Electronic 
Chemicals. The 2002 increase in goodwill was principally due to the 
acquisition of an additional interest in San Fu. 

The following table presents the adjusted net income and adjusted per 
share amounts for the year ended 30 September 2001, as if goodwill 
had not been amortized. Total goodwill amortization, which is shown 
after-tax, includes both consolidated companies and equity affiliates.
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     2003  2002  2001 

Net Income   

As reported     $397.3  $525.4  $465.6

Effect of goodwill amortization   —  —            14.8

As adjusted      $397.3  $525.4  $480.4

Basic Earnings per Share   

As reported     $1.81  $2.42  $2.17

Effect of goodwill amortization   —  —  .07

As adjusted     $1.81  $2.42  $2.24

Diluted Earnings per Share   

As reported     $1.78  $2.36  $2.12

Effect of goodwill amortization   —  —  .07

As adjusted     $1.78  $2.36  $2.19

All acquired intangible assets are subject to amortization. Acquired 
intangible assets are as follows:

       Accumulated  
     Gross  Amortization  Net 

Customer relationships     $  28.4  $  4.0  $ 24.4

Patents and technology     70.0  43.5  26.5

Noncompete covenants     10.8  10.5  .3

Other     49.3  29.6  19.7

30 September 2002     $ 158.5  $  87.6  $ 70.9 

Customer relationships     $  71.4  $  12.2  $ 59.2

Patents and technology     70.0  46.9  23.1

Noncompete covenants     15.7  12.1  3.6

Other     49.2  31.0  18.2

30 September 2003     $206.3  $102.2  $104.1

In 2003, the increase in intangible assets was due to the acquisitions 
of AHS and other U.S. homecare businesses, and Ashland Electronic 
Chemicals.

Amortization expense for intangible assets was $14.6, $10.1 and 
$10.9 in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Projected annual amorti-
zation expense for intangible assets as of 30 September 2003 is 
as follows:

2004         $ 15.8

2005         15.5

2006         13.8

2007         8.7

2008          7.9

Thereafter         42.4

Total         $104.1

11. Long-Term Debt
The following table shows the company’s outstanding debt at the end 
of 2003 and 2002:    

30 September     Maturities  2003  2002

Payable in U.S. Dollars:

   Debentures: (effective rate)

  8.50% (8.55%)     2006  $ 100.0  $   100.0

  8.75% (8.95%)     2021  18.4  18.4

    Notes: (effective rate)

  7.375% (7.54%)     2005  150.0  150.0

  6.25% (6.30%)       —  100.0

  Medium-term notes:

   Weighted average rate     

   Series B 6.7%       —  16.0

   Series D 6.8%     2004 to 2016  223.0  223.0

   Series E 7.6%     2008 to 2026  17.4  17.4

   Series F 6.5%     2007 to 2010  133.0  133.0

    Other: 1.1%     2004 to 2037  348.0  289.2

    Less: Unamortized discount     (1.8 ) (2.6 )

Payable in Other Currencies:   

 Euro bonds 6.0%     2005  571.7  493.5

 Euro bonds 6.5%     2007  350.1  296.1

 Other 4.9%     2004 to 2009  383.4  393.1

Capital Lease Obligations:   

 United States 5.9%     2004 to 2018  17.0  5.7

 Foreign  8.4%     2004 to 2007  34.8  35.3

       $2,345.0  $2,268.1

Less current portion       (176.4 ) (227.1 )

       $2,168.6  $2,041.0

Various debt agreements to which the company is a party include 
certain financial covenants and other restrictions, including restrictions 
pertaining to the ability to create property liens and enter into certain 
sale and leaseback transactions. The company is in compliance with all 
financial debt covenants.

The company has obtained the commitment of a number of com-
mercial banks to lend money at market rates whenever needed. These 
committed lines of credit are also used to support the issuance of 
commercial paper. At 30 September 2003, the company’s committed 
lines of credit totaled $600, maturing in January 2005. No borrow-
ings were outstanding under these commitments at the end of 2003. 
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Additional commitments of $25.6 are maintained by the company’s 
foreign subsidiaries, of which $17.1 was borrowed and outstanding at 
30 September 2003.

Maturities of long-term debt in each of the next five years are as fol-
lows: $176.4 in 2004, $816.8 in 2005, $280.6 in 2006, $497.2 in 
2007 and $116.9 in 2008.

In August 2001, the company retired $459.6 of various medium-term 
notes, as well as $81.5 of an 8.75% debenture, for an aggregate prin-
cipal retirement of $541.1.  A loss of $75.8 was incurred as a result 
of the early retirement of debt, consisting principally of retirement 
premiums.

12. Leases
Capital leases, primarily for machinery and equipment, are included 
with owned plant and equipment on the balance sheet in the amount 
of $65.9 and $56.5 at the end of 2003 and 2002, respectively. 
Related amounts of accumulated depreciation are $37.9 and $36.1, 
respectively.

Operating leases, including month-to-month agreements, cost the 
company $101.7 in 2003, $102.7 in 2002 and $91.0 in 2001.

During 2001, the company sold and leased back certain U.S. cryogenic 
vessel equipment resulting in proceeds of $301.9. This operating lease 
has a five-year term with purchase and renewal options. The company 
recognized a deferred gain of $134.7 on this sale-leaseback. This 
amount was included in other noncurrent liabilities.

At 30 September 2003, minimum payments due under leases are 
as follows:
       Capital  Operating
       Leases  Leases

2004       $13.2  $ 49.9

2005       24.0  44.7

2006       5.2  35.6

2007       5.3  16.6

2008        1.1  11.6

2009 and thereafter       8.3  74.4

       $57.1  $232.8

The present value of the above future capital lease payments is 
included in the liability section of the balance sheet. At the end of 
2003, $12.7 was classified as current and $39.1 as long term.

13. Capital Stock
The authorized Capital Stock consists of 25 million preferred shares 
with a par value of $1 per share, none of which was outstanding at 
30 September 2003, and 300 million shares of Common Stock with a 
par value of $1 per share. 

In 1994, the company established a trust to fund a portion of future 
payments to employees under existing compensation and benefit 
programs. The trust, which is administered by an independent trustee, 
was initially funded with 20 million shares of Treasury Stock. It does 
not increase or alter the amount of benefits or compensation that is 
paid under existing plans. The establishment of the trust does not have 
an effect on earnings per share or return on average shareholders’ 
equity. 

In 1998, the Board of Directors adopted a shareholder rights plan 
under which common stockholders receive an associated right 
to purchase one one-thousandth (1/1,000) of a share of Series A 
Participating Cumulative Preferred Stock, par value $1 per share. 
Such rights are exercisable at a price of $345 and only in the event 
of certain changes or potential changes in the beneficial ownership of 
the company’s Common Stock, which could result in a person or group 
owning more than 15% of the outstanding Common Stock (“Acquiring 
Person”). If such rights become exercisable, the rights would entitle 
the stockholder (other than the Acquiring Person) to purchase for the 
purchase price (i) that number of one one-thousandths of a share of 
Series A Participating Cumulative Preferred Stock or (ii) that number 
of shares of common stock of the surviving company (in the event of a 
business combination with the Acquiring Person or asset purchase of 
50% or more of the company’s assets by the Acquiring Person), with a 
value equal to two times the purchase price of the right. The rights will 
expire on 19 March 2008 unless earlier redeemed by the company.

14. Stock Option and Award Plans

Stock Options

Under various plans, executives, employees and outside directors 
receive awards of options to purchase common stock. Under all option 
awards, the terms are fixed at the grant date. Generally, the exercise 
price equals the market price of the company’s stock on the date of the 
grant. Options under the plans generally vest from one to three years, 
and the option’s maximum term is 10 years. Options issued to direc-
tors are exercisable six months after the grant date. 
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The company has savings-related stock option plans in which eligible 
employees in the United Kingdom may purchase stock at a price based 
on 90% of the stock price on the grant date.

The following table reflects activity under all stock option plans:

 Number of  Average
 Shares  Price

Outstanding at 30 September 2000 22,156,498  $30.18

Granted 4,592,600  35.83

Exercised (3,039,223 ) 24.93

Forfeited (536,668 ) 33.61

Outstanding at 30 September 2001 23,173,207  $31.69

Granted 5,454,587  37.82

Exercised (2,741,980 ) 27.51

Forfeited (422,442 ) 36.56 

Outstanding at 30 September 2002 25,463,372  $33.44

Granted 4,648,050  42.08

Exercised (2,712,226 ) 27.01

Forfeited (193,390 ) 34.58 

Outstanding at 30 September 2003 27,205,806  $35.14

Exercisable at end of year 17,042,215 

Available for future grant at end of year 11,522,747 

The following tables summarize information about options outstanding 
and exercisable at 30 September 2003:   
  

                         Options Outstanding           

     Weighted 
     Average  Weighted
Range of      Remaining  Average
Exercise    Number  Contractual  Exercise
Prices   Outstanding  Life (Years)  Price     

19.56–24.79   1,273,625  2.50  $23.73 

26.03–29.47   7,828,628  4.42  28.37 

30.01–41.69   13,377,353  6.55  38.04

41.96–52.19   4,726,200  8.97  43.31 

 
                  Options Exercisable      

       Weighted
Range of       Average
Exercise     Number  Exercise
Prices            Outstanding    Price     

19.56–24.79     1,273,625  $23.73

26.03–29.47     7,828,628  28.37

30.01–41.69     7,900,296  38.58

41.96–52.19     39,666  44.18

Other Awards

The company granted deferred stock units identified as performance 
shares to executive officers and other key employees. These awards 
provide for the issuance of common stock based on certain manage-
ment objectives achieved by the end of the performance period. The 
performance period is the one- or two-year period following the grant 
date. The performance shares are payable either at the end of the per-
formance period or after retirement. The number of shares outstanding 
and earned for these awards was 500,808 and 370,446 share units 
as of 30 September 2003 and 2002, respectively.  

Prior to the issuance of performance shares, the company granted 
deferred stock units as career share awards in 1992 through 1997 to 
certain executive officers and other key employees. Career shares are 
deferred stock units payable in shares of stock after retirement. Career 
share awards equivalent to 533,206 and 666,958 shares of stock 
were outstanding at the end of 2003 and 2002, respectively. 

Deferred stock units equivalent to 213,221 and 416,797 shares of 
stock were outstanding at the end of 2003 and 2002, respectively.  

Compensation cost is charged to expense over the periods during 
which employees perform related services. Compensation expense 
recognized relating to the programs granting deferred stock units was 
$3.8 in 2003, $3.1 in 2002 and $8.5 in 2001.
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15. Earnings Per Share
The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) is as follows:

30 September         2003  2002  2001

Numerator
Used in basic and diluted EPS         

 Income before cumulative effect of accounting change       $400.2  $525.4  $465.6

 Cumulative effect of accounting change         (2.9 ) —  —

Net Income         $397.3  $525.4  $465.6 

Denominator 
Weighted average number of common shares used in basic EPS (in millions)     219.7  217.2  214.8 

Effect of dilutive securities (in millions):

 Employee stock options         3.4  4.8  3.6

 Other award plans         .5  .7  .9

         3.9  5.5  4.5

Weighted average number of common shares and dilutive potential 
common shares used in diluted EPS         223.6  222.7  219.3

Basic EPS
Income before cumulative effect of accounting change       $1.82  $2.42  $2.17

Cumulative effect of accounting change         (.01 ) —  —

Net Income         $1.81  $2.42  $2.17

Diluted EPS
Income before cumulative effect of accounting change       $1.79  $2.36  $2.12

Cumulative effect of accounting change         (.01 ) —  —

Net Income         $1.78  $2.36  $2.12

Diluted EPS reflects the potential dilution that could occur if stock 
options or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or 
converted into common stock. The incremental shares are included 
using the treasury stock method, which assumes the proceeds from 
exercise are used by the company to purchase common stock at the 
average market price during the period. The incremental shares (differ-
ence between shares assumed to be issued versus purchased), to the 
extent they would have been dilutive, are included in the denominator 
of the diluted EPS calculation.

Options on 3.4 million shares, .1 million shares and 2.8 million shares 
of common stock were excluded from the computation of diluted earn-
ings per share for 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The exercise 
price of these options was greater than the average market price of 
the common shares for the respective years, and therefore the effect 
would have been antidilutive.

16. Income Taxes
The following table shows the components of the provision for income 
taxes: 

     2003  2002  2001

Federal
Current     $ 19.2  $123.4  $ 98.2

Deferred     47.6  20.0  27.9

     66.8  143.4  126.1

State
Current     6.8  4.6  (.6 )

Deferred     4.4  14.8  14.9

     11.2  19.4  14.3

Foreign
Current     94.4  47.6  53.9

Deferred     (25.2 ) 30.4  (3.8 )

     69.2  78.0  50.1

     $147.2  $240.8  $190.5
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The significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities are as 
follows:

30 September        2003  2002

Gross Deferred Tax Assets
Pension and other compensation accruals   $  322.9  $  210.9 

Tax loss and investment tax credit 
carryforwards       47.2  40.1

Reserves and accruals       23.9  18.6 

Foreign currency translation adjustment   113.3  83.1

Postretirement benefits       30.0  29.8

Inventory       22.2  18.5 

Other       104.5  72.1 

Valuation allowance       (10.8 ) (15.4 )

Deferred Tax Assets       $  653.2  $   457.7

Gross Deferred Tax Liabilities
Plant and equipment       $  875.8  $   859.1 

Investment in partnerships     111.8  99.6 

Employee benefit plans       62.4  26.5 

Currency gains       19.4  18.7 

Other       125.7  119.5 

Deferred Tax Liabilities     $ 1,195.1  $1,123.4 

Net Deferred Income Tax Liability     $   541.9  $  665.7 

Net current deferred tax assets of $54.9 and net noncurrent deferred 
tax assets of $108.8 were included in other current assets and other 
noncurrent assets at 30 September 2003, respectively. Net current 
deferred tax assets of $47.7 and net noncurrent deferred tax assets 
of $12.2 were included in other current assets and other noncurrent 
assets at 30 September 2002, respectively.

Foreign and state operating loss carryforwards as of 30 September 
2003 were $78.4 and $263.1, respectively. The foreign losses have 
an unlimited carryover period. State operating loss carryforwards are 
available through 2023. Foreign capital loss carryforwards were $1.3 
on 30 September 2003 and have an unlimited carryover period.

The valuation allowance as of 30 September 2003 primarily relates 
to the tax loss carryforwards referenced above. If events warrant the 
reversal of the $10.8 valuation allowance, it would result in a reduction 
of tax expense. 

Major differences between the United States federal statutory rate and 
the effective tax rate are:

(percent of income before taxes)   2003  2002  2001

U.S. federal statutory rate   35.0 % 35.0 % 35.0 %

State taxes, net of federal tax 
benefit     1.4  1.6  1.8

Income from equity affiliates   (3.7 ) (3.2 ) (3.4 )

Foreign tax credits and refunds
on dividends received from 
foreign affiliates     (2.9 ) .2  .3

Export tax benefits     (1.2 ) (1.0 ) (.9 )

Restructuring of operations   —  —  (1.5 )

Other     (1.7 ) (1.2 ) (2.3 )

Effective Tax Rate after 
Minority Interest     26.9 % 31.4 % 29.0 %

Minority interest     (.9 ) (.7 ) (.2 )

Effective Tax Rate     26.0 % 30.7 % 28.8 %

The following table summarizes the income of U.S. and foreign opera-
tions, before taxes and minority interest:

     2003  2002  2001

Income from consolidated 
operations:

 United States     $293.9  $463.7  $416.0

 Foreign     177.9  232.1  154.1

Income from equity affiliates   93.6  88.7  91.1

     $565.4  $784.5  $661.2 

The company does not pay or record U.S. income taxes on the un-
distributed earnings of its foreign subsidiaries as long as those earn-
ings are permanently reinvested in the companies that produced them. 
These cumulative undistributed earnings are included in consolidated 
retained earnings on the balance sheet and amounted to $1,117.1 
at the end of 2003. An estimated $248.1 in U.S. income and foreign 
withholding taxes would be due if these earnings were remitted as divi-
dends after payment of all deferred taxes.
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17. Pension and Other Postretirement 
Benefits
The company and certain of its subsidiaries sponsor defined benefit 
pension plans that cover a substantial portion of all worldwide employ-
ees. Pension benefits earned are generally based on years of service 
and compensation during active employment.

The company provides other postretirement benefits consisting of 
healthcare and life insurance benefits to certain retirees. Healthcare 
benefits are contributory, with contribution percentages adjusted 
periodically. The life insurance plan is noncontributory. The plans are 
unfunded.

The following table presents the benefit obligation and funded status of 
the domestic pension plans and other postretirement plan benefits as 
of 30 September and certain foreign pension plans as of 30 June:

     
                 Pension Benefits                  Other Benefits

       2003  2002  2003  2002

Change in Benefit Obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year       $  1,780.1  $1,475.7  $  76.8  $  65.5 

Service cost       59.3  50.1  4.2  4.4

Interest cost       117.5  104.8  5.8  4.7

Amendments       10.2  1.2  —  (3.6 )

Actuarial loss        247.8  180.3  14.7  13.6 

Special termination benefits, settlements and curtailments     12.5  1.8  .4  (.3 )

Plan participant contributions       7.9  3.5  —  —

Benefits paid       (70.9 ) (71.0 ) (8.6 ) (7.5 )

Currency translation/other       50.7  33.7  —  — 

Benefit obligation at end of year       $  2,215.1  $1,780.1  $  93.3  $  76.8

Change in Plan Assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year       $  1,012.5  $1,090.8  $  —  $    — 

Actual return (loss) on plan assets         104.5  (89.7 ) —  — 

Company contributions       61.6  54.2  8.6  7.5 

Plan participant contributions       7.9  3.5  —  —

Benefits paid       (70.9 ) (72.1 ) (8.6 ) (7.5 )

Currency translation/other       31.9  25.8  —  — 

Fair value of plan assets at end of year       $  1,147.5  $1,012.5  $  —  $    —

Funded status of the plans       $(1,067.6 ) $ (767.6 ) $(93.3 ) $(76.8 )

Unrecognized actuarial loss (gain)       866.6  599.6  14.2  (.4 )

Unrecognized prior service cost       23.0  19.0  (3.2 ) (4.0 )

Unrecognized net transition liability (asset)       .7  (2.6 ) —  —

Net amount recognized       $   (177.3 ) $ (151.6 ) $(82.3 ) $(81.2 )

Total Recognized Amounts in the Balance Sheet Consist of:
Prepaid benefit cost       $  11.5  $    3.6  $  —  $    — 

Accrued benefit liability       (689.4 ) (429.9 ) (82.3 ) (81.2 )

Intangible asset       22.8  15.4  —  — 

Accumulated other comprehensive income – pretax     477.8  259.3  —  —

Net amount recognized       $   (177.3 ) $ (151.6 ) $(82.3 ) $(81.2 )

Weighted Average Assumptions Used to Determine Benefit Obligations:
Discount rate       5.8 % 6.5 % 6.0 % 6.8 %

Rate of compensation increase       4.2 % 4.7 % 4.5 % 5.0 %
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The components of net pension and other postretirement benefit cost for 2003, 2002 and 2001 are set forth in the following table:    

        Pension Benefits           Other Benefits

   2003  2002  2001  2003  2002  2001

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost
Service cost   $   59.3  $   50.1  $   42.9  $  4.2  $   4.4  $  4.1

Interest cost   117.5  104.8  96.3  5.8  4.7  4.9

Expected return on plan assets   (114.9 ) (112.2 ) (102.9 ) —  —  —

Prior service cost amortization   3.7  2.2  2.7  (.7 ) (.2 ) (.1 )

Actuarial loss (gain) amortization   16.3  3.4  2.2  —  (.7 ) (1.2 )

Transition amount amortization   (3.3 ) (4.0 ) (3.5 ) —  —  —

Settlement and curtailment charges   —  1.6  9.5  —  (2.1 ) —

Special termination benefit    12.7  9.8  12.5  .4  1.5  .9

Net periodic benefit cost   $   91.3  $  55.7  $   59.7  $   9.7  $   7.6  $  8.6

Weighted Average Assumptions Used to 
Determine Net Cost
Discount rate   6.5 % 7.1 % 7.6 % 6.8 % 7.5 % 8.0 %

Expected return on plan assets   9.1 % 9.4 % 9.5 % —  —  —

Rate of compensation increase   4.7 % 4.7 % 4.7 % 5.0 % 5.0 % 5.0 %

During 2003, 2002 and 2001, the company incurred charges for spe-
cial termination benefits as part of enhanced benefit programs offered 
under the global cost reduction plans discussed in Note 3. 

The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit pension 
plans was $1,815.8 and $1,430.7 at the end of 2003 and 2002.

The company’s pension plans asset target allocation for 2004 and allo-
cation at 30 September 2003 are as follows:

         
       2004  2003 
       Target  Percentage of
Asset Category       Allocation  Plan Assets

Equity securities       67–73 % 71 %

Debt securities       20–30  23

Real estate       4–8  5

Other       0–5  1

Total         100 %

The projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obligation and 
fair value of plan assets for the pension plans with accumulated benefit 
obligations in excess of plans’ assets were $2,141.0, $1,758.4 and 

$1,072.6, respectively, at the end of 2003, and $1,723.1, $1,390.5 
and $964.2, respectively, at the end of 2002.

A $147.1 after-tax charge was recorded to comprehensive income 
within shareholders’ equity due to the recognition of an additional 
minimum liability in 2003. The additional minimum liability is equal 
to the accumulated benefit obligation less the fair value of pension 
plan assets in excess of the accrued pension cost. The increase in 
the additional minimum liability resulted principally from the decline in 
the discount rate. In 2002, a $158.2 after-tax charge was recorded to 
comprehensive income within shareholders’ equity due to the recogni-
tion of an additional minimum liability and the reversal of prepaid pen-
sion assets. The increase in the additional minimum liability resulted 
principally from the decline in the discount rate and the loss in value of 
plan assets.

Certain international operations have defined benefit pension plans that 
are not presented in the tables above. These international operations 
had accrued pension liabilities of $16.7 as of 30 September 2003. 
Pension expense associated with these plans for 2003 was $5.1.
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The effect of a change in the healthcare trend rate is slightly tempered 
by a cap on average retiree medical cost. A one percentage point 
change in the assumed healthcare cost trend rate would have the 
following effects:

 1 Percentage Point  1 Percentage Point
 Increase  Decrease

Effect on total of service
and interest cost $ —  $ (.1 ) 

Effect on the postretirement
benefit obligation 1.0  (1.0 )

For measurement purposes, a 9.5% annual rate of increase in the per 
capita cost of covered healthcare benefits was assumed for 2004. 
The rate was assumed to decrease gradually to 5.0% for 2006 and 
thereafter.

The company maintains a nonleveraged employee stock ownership 
plan (ESOP) which forms a portion of the Air Products and Chemicals, 
Inc. Retirement Savings and Stock Ownership Plan (RSSOP). The ESOP 
was established in May of 2002. The balance of the RSSOP is a quali-
fied defined contribution plan including a 401(k) elective deferral com-
ponent. Substantially all U.S. employees are eligible and participate. 
Dividends paid on ESOP shares are treated as ordinary dividends by 
the company. Under existing tax law, the company may deduct divi-
dends which are paid with respect to shares held by the plan. Shares 
of the company’s common stock in the ESOP totaled 7,973,107 as of 
30 September 2003.

The company matches a portion of the participants’ contributions to 
the RSSOP. Matching contributions expensed to income in 2003, 2002 
and 2001 were $13.8, $14.2 and $14.3, respectively.

18. Other Commitments and Contingencies
The company in the normal course of business has commitments, 
lawsuits, contingent liabilities and claims. The company is also party 
to certain guarantee and warranty agreements. However, the company 
does not expect that any sum it may have to pay in connection with 
these matters, or the matters described below, will have a materially 
adverse effect on its consolidated financial position or results of 
operations. 

Guarantees and Warranties

The company is a party to certain guarantee agreements, including a 
residual value guarantee, debt guarantees of equity affiliates and 

equity support agreements. These guarantees are contingent commit-
ments that are related to activities of the company’s primary 
businesses. 

In September 2001, the company entered into an operating lease of 
U.S. cryogenic vessel equipment, which included a residual value guar-
antee not to exceed $256. The guarantee extends to September 2006. 

The company has guaranteed repayment of some borrowings of cer-
tain foreign equity affiliates. At 30 September 2003, these guarantees 
have terms primarily in the range of one to seven years, with maximum 
potential payments of $18.

The company has entered into an equity support agreement related 
to the financing of an air separation facility being constructed in 
Trinidad for a venture in which the company, through equity affili-
ates, owns 50%. The maximum potential payments, under a joint and 
several guarantee with the partner, are $72 upon commencement of 
operations. The maximum exposure under the equity support agree-
ment declines over time as an underlying loan balance is amortized. 
Additionally, the company and its partner provided guarantees of 
certain obligations related to the normal operations of this facility. The 
maximum potential payments, under the joint and several operations 
guarantees, are $32. The total combined maximum potential pay-
ments, under the joint and several equity support agreement and the 
operations guarantees, are $104. The term of these guarantees is 
related to the underlying twenty-year customer gas supply contract 
from the facility.

An equity support agreement was entered into related to the financing 
of a cogeneration project. At 30 September 2003, the remaining term 
of this guarantee is 15 months, with maximum potential payments of 
$15. A partner in this project has agreed to fund approximately half of 
any required equity contribution.

The company has not accrued any amounts related to these guaran-
tees. To date, no equity contributions or payments have been required 
since the inception of these guarantees. The fair value of the above 
guarantees totals approximately $10.

The company, in the normal course of business operations, has issued 
product warranties in its Equipment segment. Also, contracts often 
contain standard terms and conditions which typically include a war-
ranty and indemnification to the buyer that the goods and services 
purchased do not infringe on third-party intellectual property rights. The 
provision for estimated future costs relating to warranties is not mate-
rial to the consolidated results of operations.
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Environmental

The company has accrued for certain environmental investigatory, 
external legal costs and noncapital remediation costs consistent with 
the policy set forth in Note 1. The potential exposure for such costs is 
estimated to range from $9 to a reasonably possible upper exposure 
of $21. The balance sheet at 30 September 2003 includes an accrual 
of $15.3. 

Other Commitments

The company has entered into put option agreements with certain affil-
iated companies. In 1999, the company made an investment in INOX, 
an Indian industrial gases company. As part of this transaction, put 
options were issued which give other shareholders the right to require 
the company to purchase shares of INOX (approximately 5.1 million) 
at a predefined exercise price. The option period begins January 2004 
and extends through January 2006. The option price during the first 
year is 570 Rupees per share and during the second year 630 Rupees 
per share. The U.S. dollar price of purchasing all 5.1 million shares in 
2004 based on current exchange rates would be approximately $64. In 
2002, the company entered into a put option agreement as part of the 
San Fu acquisition as discussed in Note 4.

At the end of 2003, the company had purchase commitments to spend 
approximately $286 for additional plant and equipment.

19. Supplemental Information

Payables and Accrued Liabilities
30 September        2003  2002

Trade creditors, payables and accrued expenses   $   547.3  $480.0 

Accrued payroll and employee benefits   115.4  128.1

Pension benefits        189.8  22.9

Customer advances       62.5  57.6

Accrued interest expense      40.3  40.1

Outstanding checks payable in excess
of certain cash balances       35.9  24.7

Miscellaneous        132.3  85.9

       $1,123.5  $839.3

Short-Term Borrowings
30 September        2003  2002

Bank obligations       $ 73.5  $116.9 

Commercial paper       92.2  — 

       $165.7  $116.9 

The weighted average interest rate of short-term borrowings outstand-
ing as of 30 September 2003 and 2002 was 2.1% and 3.7%, 
respectively.

Deferred Income and Other Noncurrent Liabilities
30 September        2003  2002

Deferred gain on sale-leaseback of U.S.
cryogenic vessel equipment     $   134.7  $134.7

Pension benefits       515.1  410.8

Postretirement benefits       71.6  62.2

Derivative instruments       76.3  17.1

Miscellaneous       208.2  202.6 

       $1,005.9  $827.4 

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
30 September       2003  2002

(Loss) gain on derivatives     $     (2.2 ) $    2.9

Unrealized gain on investment      19.7  14.6 

Minimum pension liability adjustment     (317.5 ) (170.4 )

Cumulative translation adjustments     (267.2 ) (414.0 )

       $(567.2 ) $(566.9 )

Other (Income) Expense, Net
     2003  2002  2001

Technology and royalty income   $(15.1 ) $(13.4 ) $(16.9 )

Interest income      (3.8 ) (4.9 ) (6.2 )

Foreign exchange     (.8 ) (2.0 ) —

Gain on sale of assets 
and investments     (5.0 ) (9.6 ) (.1 )

Amortization of intangibles   10.3  3.8  19.4

Insurance settlements     (3.6 ) (2.7 ) (9.6 )

Miscellaneous     (8.5 ) (8.3 ) (18.1 )

     $(26.5 ) $(37.1 ) $(31.5 )
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Summary by Quarter

These tables summarize the unaudited results of operations for each quarter of 2003 and 2002:

        First  Second  Third  Fourth  Total

2003    

Sales       $1,447.0  $1,578.1  $1,629.9  $1,642.3  $6,297.3
Operating income       196.5  179.0  40.0 (A) 189.0  604.5 
Net income       125.8  113.6  26.6 (A) 131.3  397.3
Basic earnings per common share      .57  .52  .12 (A) .59  1.81
Diluted earnings per common share      .56  .51  .12 (A) .58  1.78
Dividends per common share       .21  .21  .23  .23  .88
Market price per common share: high     46.50  44.20  44.25  48.78

  low     40.34  36.97  40.72  40.50  
(A) Included an expense of $152.7 ($96.6 after-tax, or $.43 per share) for the 2003 global cost reduction plan.

        First  Second  Third  Fourth  Total

2002    

Sales       $1,316.5  $1,312.7  $1,374.0  $1,398.0  $5,401.2 
Operating income       184.2  154.8 (A) 215.1  220.8  774.9
Net income       113.7  126.1 (A)(B) 141.3  144.3  525.4
Basic earnings per common share      .53  .58 (A)(B) .65  .66  2.42
Diluted earnings per common share      .52  .57 (A)(B) .63  .65  2.36 
Dividends per common share       .20  .20  .21  .21  .82
Market price per common share: high     48.09  53.52  52.58  51.66

  low     36.15  43.30  45.59  40.00
(A) Included an expense of $30.8 ($18.9 after-tax, or $.09 per share) for the 2002 global cost reduction plan.
(B) Included a gain of $55.7 ($25.7 after-tax, or $.12 per share) related to the sale of the U.S. packaged gas business. 
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20. Business Segment and Geographic 
Information
The company’s segments are organized based on differences in prod-
ucts. The company has three operating segments consisting of Gases, 
Chemicals and Equipment. 

Gases Segment

The company’s Gases segment includes its industrial gases, health-
care, power generation and flue gas treatment businesses.

The company is a leading international supplier of industrial and 
specialty gas products. Principal products of the industrial gases busi-
ness are oxygen, nitrogen, argon, hydrogen, carbon monoxide, carbon 
dioxide, synthesis gas and helium. The largest market segments are 
chemical processing, electronics, refining, metal production, food pro-
cessing and medical gases. The company has its strongest industrial 
gas market positions in the United States and Europe. 

The global healthcare business of the company is directed at two 
main markets: institutional and homecare. The institutional market 
uses medical gases in hospitals, clinics and nursing homes, as well as 
helium for use in magnetic resonance imaging. The homecare business 
involves the delivery of respiratory therapy services, infusion services 
and home medical equipment to patients in their homes in Europe, 
South America and the eastern United States.

The company constructed, operates and has approximately a 50% 
interest in power generation facilities in California, Rotterdam and 
Thailand. The company also constructed, operates and has a 50% 
interest in a flue gas treatment facility in Indiana.

Chemicals Segment

The company’s Chemicals segment consists of businesses organ-
ized around two divisions: Performance Materials and Chemical 
Intermediates. 

Principal products of Performance Materials are emulsions, spe-
cialty additives, polyurethane additives and epoxy additives. Principal 
Chemical Intermediates are amines and polyurethane intermediates. 
The end markets for the company’s chemical products are extensive, 
including adhesive, textile, paper, building products, agriculture and 
furniture. Principal geographic markets for the company’s chemical 
products are North America, Europe, Asia, Brazil and Mexico.

Equipment Segment

The Equipment segment designs and manufactures cryogenic and 
gas processing equipment for air separation, gas processing, natural 
gas liquefaction and hydrogen purification. The segment also designs 
and builds cryogenic transportation containers for liquid helium and 
systems for recovering gases using membrane technology. Equipment 
is sold worldwide to companies involved in chemical and petrochemical 
manufacturing, oil and gas recovery and processing, power generation 
and steel and primary metal production. Equipment is also manufac-
tured for the company’s industrial gas business. Another important 
market, particularly for air separation equipment, is the company’s 
international industrial gas joint ventures.

Customers

The company has a large number of customers, and no single cus-
tomer accounts for a significant portion of annual sales.

Accounting Policies

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those 
described in Note 1. The company evaluates the performance of seg-
ments based upon reported segment operating income. Operating 
income of the business segments includes general corporate 
expenses. Corporate expenses not allocated to the segments, included 
in all other, are primarily long-term research and development. 
Intersegment sales are not material and are recorded at selling prices 
that approximate market prices. Equipment manufactured for the com-
pany’s industrial gas business is generally transferred at cost and not 
reflected as an intersegment sale. Corporate assets not allocated to the 
segments are included in all other. These assets include cash and cash 
items, unallocated administrative facilities and certain deferred items. 
Long-lived assets include investment in net assets of and advances to 
equity affiliates, net plant and equipment, goodwill and intangibles.
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Business segment information is shown below:

          Segment  All  Consolidated  
    Gases  Chemicals  Equipment  Totals  Other  Totals 

2003

Revenues from external customers   $4,438.3  $1,591.2  $267.8  $6,297.3  $  —  $6,297.3
Operating income   584.8  67.1  4.2  656.1  (51.6 ) 604.5 

Depreciation and amortization   532.7  109.7  6.4  648.8  6.0  654.8
Equity affiliates’ income   58.3  10.8  .2  69.3  15.1  84.4 

Segment assets:   

 Identifiable assets   7,097.3  1,478.1  171.4  8,746.8  131.6  8,878.4 

 Investment in and advances to equity affiliates   502.5  50.0  1.0  553.5  —  553.5 

Total segment assets   7,599.8  1,528.1  172.4  9,300.3  131.6  9,431.9
Expenditures for long-lived assets   946.6  82.0  5.1  1,033.7  91.0  1,124.7

2002

Revenues from external customers   $3,673.9  $1,451.7  $275.6  $5,401.2  $      —  $5,401.2

Operating income   614.0  172.5  20.7  807.2  (32.3 ) 774.9 

Depreciation and amortization   473.3  109.0  5.4  587.7  3.4  591.1 

Equity affiliates’ income   61.9  11.7  2.6  76.2  —  76.2 

Gain on sale of U.S. packaged gas business   55.7  —  —  55.7  —  55.7 

Segment assets:   

 Identifiable assets   6,045.0  1,400.2  184.4  7,629.6  381.2  8,010.8

 Investment in and advances to equity affiliates   427.9  53.9  2.4  484.2  —  484.2

Total segment assets   6,472.9  1,454.1  186.8  8,113.8  381.2  8,495.0 

Expenditures for long-lived assets   625.5  49.4  6.4  681.3  108.0  789.3 

2001

Revenues from external customers   $4,084.6  $1,522.8  $250.4  $5,857.8  $  —  $5,857.8

Operating income   654.9  112.3  10.0  777.2  (31.8 ) 745.4

Depreciation and amortization   465.7  123.1  5.5  594.3   3.4   597.7

Equity affiliates’ income   71.7  7.5  2.0  81.2  —  81.2

Gain on divestiture of interest in 
 cogeneration facilities   101.6  —  —  101.6  —  101.6 

Loss on early retirement of debt   —  —  —  —  (75.8 ) (75.8 )

Segment assets:   

 Identifiable assets   5,886.6  1,386.0  185.4  7,458.0  126.6  7,584.6

 Investment in and advances to equity affiliates   446.0  50.2  3.3  499.5  —  499.5 

Total segment assets   6,332.6  1,436.2  188.7  7,957.5  126.6  8,084.1

Expenditures for long-lived assets   698.1  52.0  1.6  751.7  57.7  809.4
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Geographic information is presented below:

         2003  2002  2001

Revenues from External Customers
United States         $3,630.6  $3,301.9  $3,871.4

Canada         96.1  108.4  116.6

Total North America         3,726.7  3,410.3  3,988.0

United Kingdom         499.3  459.1  478.5

Spain         365.8  332.2  313.7

Other Europe         925.0  706.6  608.3

Total Europe         1,790.1  1,497.9  1,400.5

Asia         648.4  377.1  335.3

Latin America         131.6  115.6  133.7

All other         .5  .3  .3 

Total         $6,297.3  $5,401.2  $5,857.8 

Long-Lived Assets

United States         $3,529.8  $3,187.8  $3,389.7 

Canada         52.3  78.1  87.8 

Total North America         3,582.1  3,265.9  3,477.5

United Kingdom         432.2  475.5  452.6

Spain         491.0  405.8  371.1

Other Europe         1,180.3  987.7  829.8

Total Europe         2,103.5  1,869.0  1,653.5

Asia         1,084.0  993.1  680.9 

Latin America         195.3  202.2  210.9 

All other         55.6  33.8  35.8

Total         $7,020.5  $6,364.0  $6,058.6 

Note: Geographic information is based on country of origin. Included in United States revenues are export sales to unconsolidated customers of $497.2 in 2003, $532.7 in 2002 
and $602.3 in 2001. The Other Europe segment operates principally in Belgium, France, Germany and the Netherlands. The Asia segment operates principally in China, Japan, 
Korea and Taiwan.
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(millions of dollars, except per share)     2003  2002  2001  2000  1999

Operating Results
Sales      $6,297  $5,401  $5,858  $5,610  $5,161
Cost of sales      4,613  3,816  4,216  3,947  3,627
Selling and administrative     833  704  699  689  673
Research and development     121  120  122  123  122
Global cost reduction plans, net     153  23  107  55  34
Operating income     605  775  745  831  725
Equity affiliates’ income      84  76  81  88  62
Interest expense     124  122  191  197  159
Income tax provision (benefit)     147  241  191  (14 ) 203
Net income       397  525  466  124  451
Basic earnings per common share      1.81  2.42  2.17  .58  2.12
Diluted earnings per common share      1.78  2.36  2.12  .57   2.09

Year-End Financial Position
Plant and equipment, at cost     $11,723  $10,880  $10,227  $10,311  $10,188
Total assets      9,432  8,495  8,084  8,271  8,236
Working capital     487  653  332  430  (75 )
Total debt (A)      2,511  2,385  2,478  3,045  2,842
Shareholders’ equity     3,783  3,460  3,106  2,821  2,962

Financial Ratios
Return on sales      6.3 % 9.7 % 7.9 % 2.2 % 8.7 %
Return on average shareholders’ equity      10.9 % 15.9 % 15.8 % 4.3 % 16.1 %
Total debt to sum of total debt, shareholders’ equity and minority interest (A) 38.7 % 39.6 % 43.5 % 50.9 % 47.9 %
Cash provided by operations to average total debt    42.8 % 46.0 % 37.8 % 37.5 % 39.5 %
Interest coverage ratio     5.4  6.9  4.3  1.5  4.6

Other Data
For the year: Depreciation     $640  $581  $573  $576  $527
 Capital expenditures (B)     1,171  806  806  973  1,108
 Cash dividends per common share    .88  .82  .78  .74  .70
 Market price range per common share    49–36  54–36  49–30  39–23  49–27
 Weighted average common shares outstanding (in millions) 220  217  215  213  212
 Weighted average common shares outstanding assuming
      dilution (in millions)     224  223  219  216  216
At year end: Book value per common share    17.08  15.83  14.41  13.17  13.90
 Shareholders     11,100  11,100  11,200  11,400  11,900
 Employees     18,500  17,200  17,800  17,500  17,400

(A) Total debt includes long-term debt, current portion of long-term debt, and short-term borrowings as of the end of the year.
(B) Capital expenditures include additions to plant and equipment, investment in and advances to unconsolidated affiliates, acquisitions (including long-term debt assumed
 in acquisitions) and capital lease additions.  

     

Five-Year Summary of Selected Financial Data
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Ticker Symbol: APD
Exchange Listings: New York Stock
Exchange and Pacific Exchange, Inc.

Transfer Agent and Registrar:
American Stock Transfer and Trust Company
59 Maiden Lane, New York, NY 10038
Telephone: 800-937-5449
Internet: www.amstock.com
E-mail: info@amstock.com

Publications for Shareholders
In addition to this Annual Report, Air Products informs shareholders about
company news through:

Notice of Annual Meeting and Proxy Statement – mailed to shareholders
in mid-December and available electronically on our Web site at 
www.airproducts.com/invest/.

Form 10-K Report – filed annually with the Securities and Exchange Commission 
in mid-December.

Earnings Information – shareholders and investors can obtain copies of earnings 
releases, Annual Reports, 10-Ks and news releases by dialing 800-AIR-6525. 
Shareholders and investors can also register for e-mail updates on our Web site.

Dividend Policy
Dividends on Air Products’ common stock are declared by the board of directors 
and, when declared, usually will be paid during the sixth week after the close of 
the fiscal quarter. It is the company’s objective to pay dividends consistent with the 
reinvestment of earnings necessary for long-term growth.

Direct Investment Program
Current shareholders and new investors can conveniently and economically pur-
chase shares of Air Products’ common stock and reinvest cash dividends through 
American Stock Transfer and Trust Company. Registered shareholders can pur-
chase shares on American Stock Transfer and Trust’s Web site, 
www.investpower.com. New investors can obtain information on the Web site or 
by calling 877-322-4941 or 718-921-8200.

Annual Meeting
The annual meeting of shareholders will be held on Thursday, January 22, 2004, 
2:00 p.m., at Cedar Crest College, Allentown, Pennsylvania.

2003 Quarterly Stock Information

 HIGH LOW CLOSE DIVIDEND

First $46.50 $40.34 $42.75 $.21
Second 44.20 36.97 41.43 .21
Third 44.25 40.72 41.60 .23
Fourth 48.78 40.50 45.10 .23

    $.88

2002 Quarterly Stock Information

 HIGH LOW CLOSE DIVIDEND

First $48.09 $36.15 $46.91 $.20
Second 53.52 43.30 51.65 .20
Third 52.58 45.59 50.47 .21
Fourth 51.66 40.00 42.01 .21

    $.82

Terminology
The term Air Products and Chemicals, Inc., as used in this Report, refers solely
to the Delaware corporation of that name. The use of such terms as Air Products, 
company, division, organization, we, us, our and its, when referring to either
Air Products and Chemicals, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries or to its subsid-
iaries and affiliates, either individually or collectively, is only for convenience and is 
not intended to describe legal relationships. Significant subsidiaries are listed as 
an exhibit to the Form 10-K Report filed by Air Products and Chemicals, Inc. with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission. Groups, divisions or other business 
segments of Air Products and Chemicals, Inc. described in this Report are not cor-
porate entities.

Additional Information
The forward-looking statements contained in this Report are qualified by reference 
to the section entitled “Forward-Looking Statements” on page 42 of the Financial 
Review.

Online Delivery of Annual Meeting Material
Shareholders are encouraged to save Air Products future postage and printing 
expense by consenting to receive future Annual Reports and proxy statements 
online. Most shareholders will be given the opportunity to consent to future 
Internet delivery when they vote their proxy or give voting instructions.
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